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PREFACE




 




Dear

reader,




 




we, the publisher, have carefully

reviewed and edited this book, whose original edition dates back to the year

1919. Well over a hundred hours of work have passed correcting it, but still it

was not possible to eliminate all the mistakes that a 20th century

scanner produced. The original scans we had at our disposal were of very poor

quality. While it was possible to correct and eliminate special characters or

false letters, there is unfortunately sometimes a dot where a comma should be,

or a colon where a semicolon belongs, or the odd apostrophe, that a small dot

in the scan generated in the text file. While we still corrected and eliminated

ten thousands of errors, does not hinder the reading pleasure in any way and

still makes this version of this rare book much more valuable than other

versions on the market that have not been edited at all. We think it is fair to

say that this is not 100% of a perfect book, but a 99% edition that has not

been available since the original editions vanished from the shelves. We wish

all readers a great time browsing through the history of Fresno County and the

hundreds of biographies of the most important personalities.


















 




 




CHAPTER I




 




California is a land of never

ending wonders and surprises, a land that can only be described in

superlatives. 




Literally and figuratively,

Fresno County is to the state an empire within an empire — imperium in imperio

as the Latin phrase has it. This statement is not put forth as the declaration

of a newly discovered fact, but to emphasize that an old one is

incontrovertible as the result of a remarkable twin development of state and

county. 




California, thirty-first state of

the union, is about 780 miles long, has a breadth varying from 148 to 235

miles, a sea-coast line 1,200 miles long through ten degrees of latitude, a

total area of 158,297 square miles of which 2,645 comprise water surface, and

an estimated 101,310,080 acres, in great part rough, mountainous country, or

desert. The term desert is a relative one. The land now comprised within Fresno

County's area was long considered desert, fit only for pasturage and worthless

for agriculture. Much of it is yet regarded in that category, lacking the water

to make it productive. Imperial Valley in the county of the same name, the

southeasternmost in the state located between San Diego County and the Colorado

river as the state boundary line is another notable desert wonder in the

agricultural line. Other instances might be quoted to emphasize the declaration

that California is a land of never ending wonders and surprises. 




Approximately one-half of the

land surface is under federal control, including the nineteen and one-half

millions or more acres in the national forests. As to area, California is

second among the states of the union. Texas alone exceeds it. It is larger than

the nine combined states of New York, New Jersey, Rhode Island, Massachusetts,

Maine, Vermont, New Hampshire, Connecticut and Ohio. It is one of the richest

among the states, with a startling record of material achievements and with

potentialities so varied and great as to stagger the mind in the contemplation

of them. 




Fresno, forty-first of the

counties in the order of creation, has a land area of 5,950 square miles, or

3,808.000 acres. When organized, it was much larger, but in March, 1893, a

slice of 2,121 square miles was taken off from the northern part to form Madera

County, and in 1909 were transferred to Kings County 120 square miles of the

southeastern portion. Even with these 2,241 square miles lopped off from the

original 8,214 before partition, Fresno ranks sixth of the fifty-eight counties

in the state as to area. Only five exceed it, namely, Inyo, Kern, Riverside and

Siskyou, San Bernardino leading. As to population, San Francisco, Los Angeles,

Alameda and Santa Clara lead it in the order named. The 1910 census returned a county

population of 75,657, and for the county seat, 24,892. An estimate of 29,809

for the city was made in July, 1914, and one of 45,000 in June, 1914. The

latter is according to the 1916 report of the state controller, but manifestly

too liberal for various reasons. Estimates made on the figured basis of school

attendance, directory publishers and chamber of commerce advertising literature

all give greater returns but must be accepted with allowances. It is not to be

denied that there have been large annual accessions in the rural and urban

populations, but a census enumeration and not theoretical surmises will be

required to give reliable figures. 




The county is fourth, with

Sacramento a very close fifth, for total value of assessed property. Fresno is

one of the very few counties in the state that had no public indebtedness. An

estimate of the value of the county's public property is the following: 




 




Courthouse Grounds and Jail                  $1,207,000






Hospital, Almhouse and Grounds                318,000






Fair Grounds and Buildings                        100,000






Orphanage                                                  30,000






County Library Equipment                           10,000






Total                                                    $1,665,000






 




The county had no outstanding

bonds and no floating indebtedness. It has $150,000 invested in state highway

bonds, $300,000 in Liberty war bonds, $19,490 in county school district bonds

that buying speculators would not purchase because of the smallness of the

issues, and in December, 1917, had $.590,200 of accumulated funds out on two

per cent call loans, a sum that fluctuates from time to time. The statistical

figures of the assessor give the county an acreage of 2.251,520. 




 




ASSESSED PROPERTY VALUATIONS 




 




Assessed value of property for 1916-17

in the state, county and city of Fresno is exhibited in the following

tabulation: 




 




State 




 




Real Estate                       $1,851,485,421






Improvements                     696,960,698






Personal Property                 333,403,268






Money and Credits                 35,005,709






Non Operative Roll            2,916,855,096






Operative Roll                       504.284,748






Railroads                              157,006,590






State Grand Total:            $3,578,146,434






 




Fresno County 




 




Real Estate                       $41,644,875






Improvements                 11,421

,988 




Personal Property                9,892,398






Money etc.                             110,547






Total                               $63,069,808






 




Fresno City 




 




Real Estate                       $11,596,555






Improvements                     7,764,385






Personal Property                 3,039,137






Money, etc.                            179,585






Total                               $22,579,712






Non Operative Roll            85,649,520






 




Operative Roll                    13,980,567






County Grand Total         $99,630,087






 




The 1917-18 county assessment

roll shows the following valuations for taxation purposes, not including the

segregated school district valuations for one of the numerically largest county

school departments in the state, exclusive of the larger populous centers of

San Francisco, Los Angeles and Alameda counties. 




 




County Real Estate                                                       $56,792,585






(Fresno City, $15,931,470) 




Improvements                                                              20,075,245






(Fresno City, $10,933,700) 




Improvements Assessed to Others

than Owners                  123,720 




Personal Property                                                         15,923,163






Money and Credits                                                                427,310






Non Operative Roll                                                      93,342,023






 




Operative Roll                                                      6,044.386






Railroads                                                              8,515,019






Total Assessed Property                                 $107,901,428






 




Fresno City as the county seat is

the largest incorporated municipality. The other eight incorporated towns are;

Clovis, Coalinga, Firebaugh, Fowler, Kingsburg, Reedley, Sanger and Selma. 




The county's apportionment by the

State Board of Equalization of railroad mileage and property for state taxation

is as follows: 




 




Railroad                           Mileage

                 Valuation 




 




Southern Pacific               196.89

                   $5,394,978 




Santa Fe                           96.30

                      2.311.200 




Central Pacific           31.46                                692.208






Pullman Palace          166.61                             116,633






 




KEYSTONE IN ARCH OF WEALTH 




 




Geographically considered,

California is far from being a unit. It presents with its immense sea-coast

stretch and its great breadth, traversing interior wide valleys, desert wastes

and high mountain ranges, geographical conditions in remarkable variety. When

in their variety in turn, the land surface features, climates and productions,

the latter ranging from those of the temperate to the subtropical and the

arctic zones, are further borne in mind. California may well be classified as

an empire itself. 




California's great interior San

Joaquin Valley, an empire in itself, is the keystone in the arch of the state's

wealth. The Mother Lode poured its millions of gold into the world's lap. Its

plains were the public range during the cattle raising era of the boundless

pasturage ground. It was once one of the world's granaries in the days of the

vast grain ranch period. It is a leader today in the products of the intensive

and diversified culture of the small, irrigated orchard and vineyard farm. The

oil industry confined to the Coast Range is an overshadowing one, and the San

Joaquin valley has become the state's oil producing region. Irrigation has

transformed Fresno from a desert to an annual producer of over thirty millions.






Its potentialities are boundless

almost. It is no dream that in the cultivation of rice and cotton as the latest

taken up enterprises of the soil with demonstrated successes in the

experimental efforts, California and its great interior valley are preparing to

furnish the world with more surprises. Such an eminent authority as George C.

Roeding has declared that Fresno must wake up and teach the world that

"here in the central portion of the Golden State there is an empire worthy

the attention of the man with the dollar." And there is a wonderful past

to substantiate him. 




The history of Fresno, and for

that matter of the great interior valley also, was little influenced by the

Spaniards or the Mexicans in so far as leaving imperishable impress upon the

region that the gold seekers brought to the world's knowledge. There was no

Spanish sub-stratum with the pictured life and customs as at the coastal

mission establishments, so suggestive of medievalism and even feudalism, to

give the quaint and picturesque setting for the American superstructure to

follow and to recall the days before the Gringo came. 




Of the Spanish and Mexican rule

there is no lasting memorial, save perhaps in the melodious nomenclature of

landmarks, and in the foreign words grafted on the English language. The name

"Fresno," from the Spanish meaning "ash tree." was applied

because of the abundance of the tree in the mountains of the county. It was

first given to identify the river tributary to the San Joaquin and once embraced

within the county, but now in Madera. It was so applied before Fresno County

was organized, and even before the territory now so named had distinctive

appellation as a part of Mariposa County. It was so appropriated to name the

first big trees discovered by James Burney of Mariposa and John Macauley of

Defiance, Ohio, in 1849. They were in Fresno territory that is now part of

Madera County. Burney was of North Carolina and the first sheriff of Mariposa,

elected after organization in February, 1850. The above named and two others

made the find in the latter part of October on the Fresno-San Joaquin divide

while pursuing animals that the Indians had stolen. This was at a time when

Mariposa embraced, as one of the original twenty-seven counties of the state,

nearly the entire San Joaquin Valley, south of the Tuolumne River. 


















 




 




CHAPTER II




 




As a political entity, Fresno's

history runs back to 1856. Prior to that and territorially long before that, it

was unpeopled during the period that Bret Harte has so poetically described as

"that bland, indolent autumn of Spanish rule, so soon to be followed by

the wintry storms of Mexican independence." It was the undisputed domain

of the Indian — the Digger as he was called, because he digged the ground for

edible roots, bulbs and insect larvae. 




It was indefinitely located as

the remote and farthermost outpost of "that section of the mining region

known as the Southern Mines" after carving out from Mariposa and with it

claiming Utah Territory as easternmost boundary. The Mother of Counties

embraced almost everything in the easternmost interior between the Coast and

Sierra ranges from Tuolumne on the north to San Luis Obispo on the south, with

its celebrated central Fremont Grant concerning which alone a book might be

written, its four great central gold abounding sections and quartz veins

throughout the county, Mariposa as one of the original organized with formation

of the state in 1850, was so rich in mining wealth that it was estimated as

formed in 1856 that over 500 mills could be supplied with rock paying from

sixteen dollars to twenty dollars per ton. 




As to Fresno, years elapsed

before "the reviving spirit of American conquest," gripped the land.

With successive industrial evolutions, the transformation has been short of the

marvelous. From the early primitive mining camps in canyons and gulches or along

river banks, the transition from an inland cow county has been to a vast

agricultural domain, the future seat of fullest activities in that line of a

great commonwealth, and the upbuilding of an interior community that every

prophecy holds out as destined to become one of the largest, most populous, influential

and richest. It is well on its way to reach that goal. 




Jonathan Swift, the greatest

satirist of his age, philosophizes through one of his characters that "he

gave it as his opinion that whoever could make two ears of corn, or two blades

of grass, to grow upon a spot of ground where only one grew before, would

deserve better of mankind, and do more essential service to his country, than

the whole race of philosophers put together." What then of the pioneers

who on the barren nothingness of 1856 laid the basis of what is the wonderful

Fresno county of 1919? 




The changes that the mutations of

time have wrought in the span of sixty-two years are not appreciated until they

are brought to a realization by some homely yet startling illustration. The

reader may measurably conceive the changes when contemplating the concrete fact

that there are less than a dozen known living persons that have risen out of

all obscurity in the growth of the county, or who, having removed from

California, trace has been lost of them, and who were residents of the

territory before and at the period of the county's organization in the year

1856. 




 




ROSTER OF LIVING EARLIEST

PIONEERS 




 




The following roster of surviving

pioneers of pioneers was first compiled nearly two years ago. It has undergone

five revisions to leave today in January, 1919, the submitted names, for be it

borne in mind that the adult pioneer in the territory in 1856, or before county

organization, must have been at twenty-one majority or close thereto, and with

the sixty-two years added since, would need be, if surviving today, at an

advanced age in the 80's. The living are believed to be the following named

according to best research: 




Henry F. Akers, of near Sanger;

William Albertus Akers, of near Coalinga; Mrs. Sarah Akers-Chambers, of San

Benito; Mrs. Mary Agnes Burns, of near Sanger; Mrs. C. P. Converse that was

Mrs. Stephen Caster, whose home is in Ishom Valley, Tulare County; Mrs. Lewis

Leach, who was the first Mrs. C. P. Converse, and is a resident of Fresno City;

Mrs. Mary McKenzie-Hoxie, born at Millerton in 1855; Hiram McDonald, who was

chief of police of 5-Point Precinct, Phoenix, Ariz., at last accounts. The last

two were in the county as juveniles at organization date. 




 




Jasper N. Musick 




 




Jasper N. Musick headed the above

list for more than a year and a half as perhaps the widest known of the early

pioneers, though the Akers family preceded him in the territory by some three

years. Death removed Musick at the age of eighty-five years on June 4, 1918,

and two days later his remains were laid away in the little rural cemetery at

Academy, where sleepeth so many of the pioneer men and women of the county. 




Familiarly known as "Uncle

Jess" because of his lovable character, Jasper N. Musick had experienced

all the vicissitudes of early day pioneering, and as a boy the family located

at what is now Jefferson City, Mo., at a period when St. Louis was on the map

as a trading post. He was the sixth of fifteen children. A brother, Jeremiah,

for whom a Fresno residence addition was named (he died in 1904) came to

California after the war and engaged in stock raising. 




Jasper and a brother crossed the

plains, arriving in the fall of 1850. They made the journey to Salt Lake City

with ox teams, but traded for horses as ,a swifter means of progress. Arriving

at Hangtown (Placerville, Cal.), they were surprised to behold the traded off

oxen that had previously arrived and in a much better condition than the

horses. For six years, Musick mined in Amador County with reasonable success,

in 1856 settled in Mariposa County, engaged incidentally in Indian warfare and

participated in the skirmish on Tule River which quelled the outbreak. Settling

at Millerton, he teamed to and from Stockton and the mines, hauling provisions

to the latter for five cents a pound with ten days required on the round trip.

In 1858 he moved the Fort Miller soldiers to Benicia Barracks on evacuation. 




Later he located on Dry Creek in

the stock business with J. G. Simpson, conducting a Millerton meat shop, and

each spring drove a band of cattle to Sonora and other mining centers at

profit. This partnership continued until 1865, when he took up the sheep

business with ranch at Letcher. There he also pioneered in orange and deciduous

fruit growing. His residence in Fresno city dated from 1892, and here in

comparative affluence he lived a retired life after the whirl and excitement of

his younger years. By a first marriage at Dry Creek with a native born of

Millerton. Rebecca, daughter of James Richards, a pioneer settler, five

children were born, three of whom attained majority. The second marriage in

December, 1878, was at Lemoore to Nancy J. Messersmith, whose family came from

Cole County, Mo., after the war. 




Mr. Musick was for two terms a

county supervisor and chairman of the board for a time. It was during his

incumbency that the county-seat removal was effected, a change that he had

championed. While a Dry Creeker, he was in 1872 one of the incorporators and

organizers and the treasurer of the Dry Creek Academy with ex-Sheriff J. D. Collins

as the first teacher, a school of acknowledged repute. Later, building and

grounds were deeded to the school district of which Mr. Musick was a trustee

for years, and school has never closed doors to its original purpose. In his

younger days Mr. Musick was a leader of the Democracy. 




As an evidence of the remarkable

faculty that some men are endowed with in the recollection of dates, is cited

the incident that on the day of the funeral, June 6, 1918. John C. Hoxie, the

late pioneer, recalled on his way to the obsequies to attend them as a pall

bearer, that the day of his friend's death lacked only forty-eight hours of the

day. June 2, 1856, of his first meeting, as a small boy with Jasper N. Musick

at old Millerton. Two days after the funeral was also the incident of the

recording of a government land patent to Musick under date of August 30, 1877,

and apparently long forgotten. 




 




Joseph Bums 




 




At

the age of eighty-eight years and three months on December 13, 1918, Joseph

Burns died after an illness of five months at his home near Sanger. He was one

of the last of the Old Guard, his coming antedating county organization in

1856. He had followed agricultural and pastoral pursuits nearly all his life in

California, amassing a competency which permitted him to aid in the development

of the county in humble fashion. He was a good citizen, never in public life,

never sought political preferment but remained content to follow the

unobtrusive career of a farmer, drifting along with the time and the tide, his

circumstances benefitted by the natural advancement and enrichment of the

region in which he had chosen to cast his lot, undisturbed by the hurly-burly

of changing epochs and living more in the historic dead past than the bustling,

restless present. 




Joseph Burns was a South

Carolinian born, but as an infant removed with parents to Sparta, Randolph

county, Ill.. In early manhood and allured by the gold excitement, he came to

California in 1852; according to another report in 1854. At any rate he settled

in Mariposa county and was a resident of that county even after Fresno was

carved out of that vast mining domain. There is little to be told of his early

experiences, though after removal to Fresno after county organization it is

recalled that like many others he was adopted according to a prevailing

practice of the times into tribal relations through the daughter of an Indian

chief with a place in history. Cowchiti, as he was known, had to do with the

preliminaries of the treaty of peace signed up at Fort Barbour, April 29, 1851,

with the rebellious tribes of the valley following surrender to the Mariposa

Battalion under Maj. James D. Savage and with the last act in the drama — the

bringing in of captives and starved out Yosemites from the fastnesses of the

valley. Chief Cowchiti was the scout and interpreter that guided Capt. Boling's

company to and from the valley in the pursuit, being the first visit by white

men in number to enter and explore the scenic gorge and make its fame known.

Cowchiti was looked upon by the soldiery not altogether without suspicion and

doubt as to his motives and purposes, but proved faithful to his trust. 




Burns

settled on Willow creek, a tributary of Coarse Gold Creek, in Madera county

now, setting out there what is said to have been the first peach orchard in

this region. In 1862 he married Mary Agnes Lewis, whose father was an herb

doctor at a time when graduate practitioners were few. In the year 1869, Burns

pulled up stakes and moved to Centerville in the Kings river district and

engaged in stock and sheep raising and farming, and also planted one of the

first orange groves in that pioneer citrus belt. He and others were associated

in the co-operative Sweem ditch enterprise. It was on any scale the first

practical irrigation demonstration in the county and with its inclusion in the

Church irrigation plan metamorphosed the parched grazing land of the plains

into vineyards, orchards and farms. 




The published Burns obituary

recorded several glaring inaccuracies. The death was heralded as that of the

oldest citizen and pioneer. This was manifestly incorrect. It was declared as

"an outstanding circumstance" of his reported marriage in 1862

"that it was the first recorded in the new county of Fresno which up to

that time formed a part of Mariposa County." This is obviously also an

absurd statement. Equally far from the truth was the statement that "for

several years he was the only Republican who cast his vote in Millerton, then

the county seat of Fresno County." The distinction of having been the

historical "Lone Republican" in the county has been fastened on

various persons, now dead, among them the late Judge Charles A. Hart and the

late Supervisor H. C. Daulton. Truth is that the subject of the obituary never

did vote at Millerton because there were precinct polling places at Coarse Gold

and at Centerville even before the Republican party came into existence. If

there is a well authenticated historical incident it is the one that the

"Lone Republican" of Fresno that gained a state wide name because

casting the only Republican vote in his locality for that new party's first

presidential nominee was "Dad" Aldrich, or Aldridge (the spelling is

varied). He gained that publicity because of his vote for Abraham Lincoln at

the election November 6, 1860, at the Coarse Gold precinct. The late Capt. R.

P. Mace of Madera was the presiding officer at the polling place, and the late

James G. McCardle and William Cunningham (brother-in-law of Mace by the

latter's second marriage), escorted and protected Aldrich to the ballot box to

vote, the three cognizant of the threats made by certain roughs against Aldrich

that "no damned Abolitionist would vote if they could prevent it." 




Burns was undoubtedly one of the

earliest voting Republicans in the county as he was also one of the 100 who

subscribed for small stock holdings to start the Fresno Republican newspaper

under the late Dr. Chester Rowell. It is not to say that in the activities of

his day and time he did not aid and encourage the movements for the development

of the county, for he did do so. It is however to record history that he chose

to drift with the times and while encouraging these movements did not initiate

any. He was not ambitious on these lines. He did not yearn to flash in the lime

light of publicity. He had a competency and was content to let well enough

alone. His competency dwindled with time but to the end he pursued a life of

restful peace and quiet. 




A widow, two sons and four

daughters survive him. A member of the Presbyterian church from childhood, he

was not bound by sectarianism in religious matters. Report had it that he took

comfort before death from the 23rd Psalm and at the last recited it to the end:






 




"Surely goodness and mercy

shall follow me 




"All the days of my life; 




"And I will dwell in the

house of the Lord 




"Forever." 




 




Joseph M. Kinsman 




 




During the year, 1916, Joseph M.

Kinsman of Madera, a pioneer of 1848, headed the list. He and his brother,

Albert, known as "Al," were of the clan of squaw-men so numerous in

the days when a white woman in the mining regions was a rarity. Joseph was the

surviving brother and he died December 26, 1916. The story is told that a fad

of later days was his collection of newspapers and prints with storied

experiences of the pioneer times. He was himself a fountain of information and

had a remarkable memory of what he had in his unclassified collection. It is

said that he wantonly set fire to his shack and destroyed the collection that

would have been a priceless treasure for the historian. Neither brother filled

a place in public or historic life. 




Joseph Kinsman died at his

Northfork miner's cabin at the age of eighty-nine years and ten months. He was

a sailor in youth, born in Boston in 1826, came to California in 1849 and mined

on the Chowchilla, later went into business at Merced Falls, Mariposa County,

and in 1875 settled at Hooker's Cove at Northfork and continued there until

death. It was said of him that he was a life-long Democrat and a Southern

sympathizer in the Civil War, although a Northerner born, and was known as

"the Connecticut Rebel." It is recalled of him that he kept a diary

of daily events from 1849 to 1875 when it was destroyed by fire, and then that

he opened another. 




 




Capt. R. P. Mace and Wife 




 




A notable death preceding that of

Kinsman's, was that of Mrs. Jennie E. Mace, pioneer of 1855-56 and widow of

Capt. R. P. Mace (April 24, 1894). She died July 17, 1916; he was a California

'49er. Death, in the home of over forty years of residence, removed in Mrs.

Mace the oldest pioneer woman of Madera County. Her first California home was

at O'Neal's, and during her sixty-one years in the valley, she saw Fresno,

Merced, Mono and Madera Counties come into existence and the cities of Fresno

and Madera spring out of the plains. She was a native of Ireland, born in

August, 1837, and with her father, Andrew Cunningham, and her mother, came to

Indiana when only a few weeks of age. She married in 1855, John Gilmore, and

the honeymoon was passed on the journey to California. She settled at O'Neal's,

where she lived nineteen years and where a daughter (Mrs. Tillie Gilmore-Brown)

and two sons were born. Her marriage to Capt. Mace occurred in 1866. She was a

much beloved woman, who was noted for many acts of charity and benevolence, was

prominent in the Methodist Church, South, and in 1869 was one with others, to organize

at Fort Miller, one of the first Sunday schools in the valley, the abandoned

guardhouse being the place of meeting. In possession of her faculties to the

last, she could talk interestingly of experiences from the viewpoint of the

good wife, the respected woman and the honored mother of two families. 




Capt. Mace's adventurous career

started with a sea voyage as a cabin boy from Boston to New Orleans, thereafter

with a companion he spent a roving season with a French trader among the

Comanches. At Independence, Mo., he joined the trading train of the American

Fur Trading Company en route to Bent's Fort on the Arkansas. He accompanied

Robert Isher, noted scout, trapper and trainer of Kit Carson, on the volunteer

journey to Taos, to convey important messages for 180 miles to Charles Bent,

one of the four brothers, trailing through the hostile region of the Utes. The

journeying was done by night with concealment in canyons by daylight. The

return to the fort was with escort of trappers and hunters. Mace continued in

the employ of Charles Bent for six years as a trusty scout, carrying express

from Bent's Fort to Fort George on another dangerous trail and taking his life

in hand on every journey and on one occasion holding five Indians at bay. 




For two years with Kit Carson he

hunted the buffalo for meat for the 400 employees of the fur company, chasing

the bison over the present site of Denver, Colo., and also being at Pueblo,

that state, when the first adobe was raised for a trading post. At twenty-three

he returned to New Orleans, continued for three years as clerk in a wine house

and at the outbreak of the war with Mexico was among the first to volunteer and

for three months served under Gen. E. P. Gaines. Louisiana being requisitioned

upon for a regiment. Mace returned to New Orleans on leave, recruited the first

company for that first regiment, was appointed captain — hence the title that

remained with him through life — was the senior in rank and served until the

treaty of peace. He also served in quelling an Indian uprising in Yucatan. The

gold discovery attracted him to California and the year 1849 saw him in San

Francisco (Yerba Buena) camped in Happy Valley, south of Market street,

afterward the manufacturing and foundry district, headed soon for Rose's Bar on

the Yuba and with varying success mining for twenty years. Later at Millerton,

he and a company spent three years building a race to turn the San Joaquin

River for mining. They first struck it rich, making from a few buckets of dirt,

$900 and $1,000 a day for several days, but the bed soon played out. He had

also a quartz lead at Fine Gold Gulch. This was mismanaged and destroyed in his

absence. The later No-Fence law practically ruined him so he killed his live

stock to dispose of it. He rented and managed the hotel at the ambitious

settlement at Borden which once aspired to be the county seat of Fresno County,

continuing from 1874 until 1876, when Madera was founded and he was one of the

first to buy town lots. Madera eventually crowded Borden off the map. In 1877

he built the Yosemite Hotel in Madera, stopping place for Yosemite Valley

travel via Raymond, and when it was destroyed by fire he erected the standing

brick structure that faces the railroad depot. Capt. Mace was justice of the

peace for years and served for three terms in the state legislature. 




Running allusion is made to his

career to emphasize the spirit and character of the men who were the prominent

pioneers of Fresno. They were men that did things. It was not the period for

mollycoddles. 




Thomas Sprecherman, also known as

"Tom Jones," who came on the Chowchilla as a miner in 1849, and John

Besore, of French descent and an early pioneer, have been on the list. They and

Thomas J. Dunlap, popularly known as Jeff Dunlap, all Fresnans, became Maderans

after county division because they lived north of the San Joaquin River line. 




 




The Akers Family 




 




The Akers family group is a

notable one of five brothers with many descendants. They came overland to the

territory in 1853 via the southern route, heading straight for Millerton and

settling on the Kings River at Centerville or Scottsburg as the first

settlement was named. They were in the order of primogeniture; Harvey (died

June 17, 1911), at the age of eighty-three. Smith and Anderson (both long since

passed away) and the surviving two youngest, Henry F. and William Albertus. A

sister is another survivor, a resident of Bitterwater in San Benito County. 




The Akers made up an ox-team

party of emigrants and it is related that when near where Tulare City is now

located they found themselves almost out of provisions and facing starvation.

Ahead of them trailed another party fairly well supplied with stock cattle. It

bogged in crossing the Kings River, and what was its loss and misfortune proved

the salvation of the others, for the Akers party rescued the mud imbedded

cattle out of the river bottom and slaughtering them for beef was enabled to

close in on the last lap of the long journey and to furnish itself with meat

after arrival at destination. 




 




James N. Walker 




 




Another who was once listed was a

pioneer of the valley, influential in his day politically and financially,

James Null Walker, who died January, 1916. His closing career is tinged

pitiably when he is recalled in the days of the dandified and handsome

personage of younger and middle age, in contrast with his Rip Van Winkle

sloven, ragged and neglected appearance of the closing days. A day had been

when none was too high not to court the friendship and acquaintance of the Hon.

James N. Walker. A Missourian, born in February, 1829, he was brought up in the

handling of stock and at fifteen was sent to the New Orleans market in charge

of his father's cattle, and later was taken into partnership. He made his last

trip to New Orleans as a drover in 1849 and netted enough out of the joint

venture to purchase an outfit to come to California in 1850 and arrived in

August, after the overland ox-team journey. 




He mined in Grass Valley. Nevada

County, and in Mariposa County following up mining with merchandising at Coarse

Gold Gulch in Fresno County. He conducted a large credit business with the

miners but had to close out at a heavy loss with the early giving-out of the

mines. Walker's Store was a political and civic center in those days. Ranching

at Fine Gold followed, and in the foothills, in 1863, he stocked a range with

four dollar a head cattle and in 1867 located also on the north side of the San

Joaquin. This was an establishment that was a show place in its day, it was

added to until he had 1,300 acres on the river, first raising mules, then

interested for twelve years in sheep and later in cattle. Prosperity favored

him in this and other enterprises and he served two terms in the state

legislature after 1861, was twice sheriff after 1866 and an assemblyman in

1870. 




It was said of him in 1905, that

he was then one of five left of the early settlers of Fresno County, manifestly

as incorrect a statement as the popularly misconceived one that he was the

first sheriff of the county. Still. Walker was a prominent and honored citizen

in his day. There is in existence a remarkable photographic work of art by

Frank Beck picturing him tuning up an old fiddle. The picture was one of twelve

that won for Beck the first prize at the photographers' national convention

exhibition at Chautauqua. Walker died at the age of eighty-six leaving a

$40,000 estate, a widow. Agnes J. Cranmer, and seven children, four of them

daughters. 




 




Joseph Medley and T. J. Dunlap






 




Death removed from the list, in

the summer of 1917, Joseph Medley and T. J. Dunlap. Medley, born in October,

1826, was a picturesque character, a resident of the Auberry Valley section for

upwards of sixty-six years, identified with activities in the Tollhouse lumber

district, a miner of course in the first days, and a squaw-man as was his

brother, Marion, whose death preceded his. Joseph went through life without

achieving other mark of distinction than as the picturesque survivor of a past

day, eking out an existence as a cattle and hog rancher, and removed only a

degree above the Indian whose life long associate he had been. His remains lie

buried in the little cemetery at Auberry Grove and, at the simple funeral (July

9, 1917) Rev. Hardie Connor of the near-by Indian Mission officiated. Surviving

Medley were son and daughter, three nephews and a niece. Leaving no impress of

his long life on the history of the county, yet talking interestingly of the

very earliest personal recollections of it and its men, the most lurid events

in his negative career are recalled in visits to the later founded Fresno City

in its infant days to yield to the pitfalls in his path in the den that was

dignified with the name of the Star Theater to squander with the prodigality of

a Monte Cristo the returns of successive seasons from sale of hogs and cattle,

returning to foothill haunts and squaw, bankrupt after wasting his substance on

the bedizened and short skirted damsels who welcomed him as long as his money

lasted. Medley ended his days in the almshouse, decrepit and almost blind. The

local print noticed his death in a twenty-five-line obituary, without revealing

the picturesque identity of the character that had passed away. 




Of another stamp was T. J. Dunlap

of Madera, arrival of 1852-53, whom fortune favored at the very outset in

making him strike it rich with a cousin in mining at the mouth of Kaiser Creek

where it empties into the San Joaquin, later selling the claim for a big price

after having profitably worked it for years. His later day home was on the ranch

near Fine Gold; in the 70's he was in the lumber business with saw mill on the

site of what is now Bass Lake in Madera County, one of the impounded water

reservoirs for electric power generation and at the upper end of which is

located The Pines resort. 




Dunlap represented in the Fresno

County board of supervisors the district north of the San Joaquin, made a

campaign for sheriff, but was defeated, and was a deputy under County Assessor

W. J. Hutchinson. He was a citizen of note and his death was at the age of

eighty-nine. As with many others Fortune, fickle drab that she is, gave him

cold shoulder in his last days; or perhaps times and conditions had changed and

the pioneer of other days fell by the wayside in the swifter march of the day. 




Passing allusion is made here only

to earliest of pioneers in Mrs. Ann McKenzie-Hart who died in 1910, at the age

of eighty-five and Dr. Lewis Leach who passed away at seventy-four, in March,

1897. Record of them is found elsewhere. They were of the very first white

permanent settlers. Others might be recalled but they would have to be summoned

out of obscurity. It is with sadness that it must be noted that in their

closing days fate has been unkind, even harsh, with some of these pioneers of

pioneers, for burdened with the ills and infirmities of age and poverty not a

few have had to seek the sheltering roof of public institutions. 




 




John Dwyer and Robert

Brantsford 




 




Not overlooked should be one who,

until his death in June, 1912, was a character in Fresno city. John Dwyer came

to the territory with the soldiers to give protection to the miners against the

hostile Indians. He came as a drummer boy and the tale is, that on the march

through Death Valley he was carried, in an exhausted state, for two days and

nights on the shoulders of Robert Brantsford, a stalwart and burly Virginian

and soldier of the expedition. Dwyer labored on the hand-operated saw mill that

turned out the logs and planks for Fort Miller, the soldiers first bivouacking

at Fort Washington, further down on the river, where today the school district

bearing the name is located. 




Dwyer was also of the squaw-men

contingent. After leaving the garrison he became a freight carrier between

Stockton and the Southern Mines; in this connection the story is recalled that

as an expert horseman he was once a principal at Stockton, in a wager with

thousands in gold dust at stake, as to who had the best horse to move a load of

given weight over a marked course. The demonstration by his opponent

foreshadowed his loss of the wager, but a quick thought saved the day. Dwyer

jumped on his horse astraddle and with the added weight the animal was enabled

to secure better foothold to start moving the load and the wager was won. Dwyer

was known in Fresno as "The sand wagon man" from his vocation of

carting and selling sand for mortar, plaster and other construction work. 




Dwyer had passed his

eighty-fourth year when death summoned him. It is to be noted as remarkable,

the years that the men and women of the pioneer times attained after the

hardships and privations endured. Dwyer as a teamster hauled the material in

the construction of the Millerton courthouse, was a California volunteer in the

Civil War, took unto wife the widow, Mary Friedman of Millerton, was a pioneer

of Fresno city, and a member of the first volunteer fire company. His lot in

life was a humble one but he shirked no duty. 




Of Brantsford who also joined the

squaw-men, it is recorded that he died in September, 1890, and in his will,

made liberal provision for a daughter Martha, the offspring of a Mono Indian

mother, who was known as Mary Hancock because of having assumed other marital

relations. Brantsford left for the daughter a trust estate, with Jasper D.

Musick as executor of his will. 




 




James J. Rogers 




 




Included in the list of survivors

at one time, but eliminated in the course of revisions was also James J.

Rogers, whose death was at the age of eighty-two. He was born in Illinois March

17, 1822, the son of Robert Rogers and Helen Patterson, and a direct descendent

of Gen. Robert Rogers of French and Indian wars. Rogers served under Gen.

Winfield Scott in the War with Mexico and was one of the twelve that carried

the .American flag into the capital, Mexico City, on the 14th of September,

1847, when the victorious army marched into the city and occupied the national

palace. He married Cynthia Ann Stephens, born in Illinois December, 1830,

daughter of William Stephens and Delia Short, the latter a descendant of Capt.

Short of Revolutionary fame, and the parents of J. B. Stephens, who was a

captain in the Mexican and Civil wars. James Rogers married at Little Rock,

Ark., September 26, 1848, left for California April 1, 1850, via the southern

route through New Mexico and Arizona, arrived at Los Angeles August 1, 1850,

settled at Stockton in the spring of 1851, engaged in mining until 1857 and

then removed to Fresno county where a large family was reared. The Rogers were

the pioneer owners of the Rogers Hot Springs, known now as the Fresno Hot

Springs. James J. Rogers died at Los Angeles March 6, 1904. Mrs. Cynthia A.

Rogers, the widow, lived at last accounts (November 20, 1918), at Stockton,

Cal., and though eighty-eight years of age is a wonderfully preserved woman,

who despite her years is able to read and write without difficulty, goes wither

and when the mood possesses her and has found time to knit for the American

soldiers in France. 




 




BACK TO MINING ERA 




 




In the rostered membership of the

Fresno County Pioneers' Association are the following named living residents

whose days go back to the mining era of the decade of the 50's, namely; 




1856 — Mrs. Mary A.

Parker-Strivens. Charles E. Strivens, James T. Parker, Henry Wells, Mrs. Sallie

Cole-Sample (Obit., Dec. 17, 1917), and T. F. Boling. 




1857—1. W. Holliday, G. W.

Statham and Frank M. Lewis. 




1858— John C. Hoxie (Obit., Nov.

21, 1918), Elizabeth J. Hoxie-Barth, Sewell F. Hoxie, Mrs. Tillie Gilmore-Brown

and Charles Crawford. 




1859— Lil A. and Led. F. Winchell

(Obit., 1918), Mrs. Peter Parry and Mrs. Carrie E. Hoxie-McKenzie. 




Some of these were children at

the time. They are excluded from the pioneer list of territorial residents

before county organization date. The association residence date qualification

for membership is the removal year of the county seat of Millerton in 1874. 


















 




 




CHAPTER III




 




California is a land redolent of

romance in its early history of discovery and exploration. Its very name

created in 1510 for a romance of medieval chivalry, "the most fictitious

of fiction," is an etymological enigma to this day. Its source origin in a

forgotten Spanish romance was not discovered until the winter of 1863, and then

by Rev. Edward E. Hale in the course of Spanish archival researches at a time

when he expected to become the reader and amanuensis for William H. Prescott, the

historian. Melodious as the name is, the California poet Edwin H. Markham

observes that it is "as well also the oldest of any state save only

Florida," given by Ponce de Leon in 1512, while in search of the fabled

Fountain of Youth. 




For long California was "a

mere field of cosmographic conjecture," whether island, peninsula or part

of mainland. Its location was placed somewhere between Mexico and India, with

its boundaries vagueness itself. The fabled and the material California have in

turn attracted a world's undivided interest. Her history is unique. Considered

in entirety or in its successive phases, the record is one unequalled in

variety, originality and interest by that of any other province of the New

World. Whether regarded from the purely romantic or the positive, materialistic

viewpoint, no state of the union has commanded more continuous notice and

attention. Writers and historians ever return for a fascinating theme to

California, land of gold, of perpetual sunshine, of natural blessings such as

no other land has been endowed with in such prodigality. 




The romancer of 1510 described

his California as an imaginary island "located on the right hand of the

Indies, very near the terrestrial paradise." He peopled it with black Amazons,

who trained griffins for warfare and caparisoned them with gold. The only

mineral on the island was gold, though it was fabulously rich also in precious

stones and pearls. It was, as Poet Markham described it, "a rosy

romance." Still the Spanish romancer's most extravagant dreams did not

conjure up such a rich land as the real, materialistic California has proven to

be. The California that the explorers placed on the map and named proved in

truth to be the land of gold and of untold riches. Not of precious stones and

pearls, but of gold and products of the virgin soil. 




The gold was not unearthed until

nearly three and a half centuries after the romance, and then by the

Anglo-Americans, in whose veins throbbed and pulsated to action the admixed red

blood of preceding generations of the adventurous and resistless Saxon. 




The problem of Columbus' day was

to reach "far Cathay" by sea, sailing westward — to open a new route

to India. Ever the cry was India. This feverish quest for wealth was the

impelling motive also of Hernando Cortez after his conquest of Mexico and the

subjugation of Montezuma (1520-21). In the various explorations under him, of

the California and North Pacific coasts (1532-37), whatever the specific moving

cause of particular expeditions, whether in the alarm-spreading presence in the

North Pacific of English buccaneer or freebooter to seize the annual Spanish

treasure galleon from the Philippines, whether the threatened aggressions of

foreign powers for territorial acquisition or commercial spoliation, or whether

the location of a California relief port for the teredo-eaten hull or

scurvy-stricken crew of the annual "great Manila ship." 




It was all very nice for the

history recording apologists for "these conscienceless gold-seeking adventurers"

to advance the specious plea for them, of spreading the faith and win souls

through religion, their real motive in the quest for the Indies was always

gold, precious stones, the luxurious and costly fabrics — to find the shorter

route to wealth, glory and the commerce with the Eastern El Dorado, fat and

overflowing with the things precious for the increasing wealth and luxurious

demands of the age. 




Great would be the glory and

great also the profit of the individual or the nation that would shorten the

overland route to India, minimize its perils and difficulties, and pour into

the receptive lap of Europe the priceless and coveted commodities of Asia in

quantity unstinted. The very name of India suggested boundless wealth and

riotous, luxury. The Indian sea-route never was voyaged, via the fabled and

long sought "Strait of Anian," because the early navigators had to

learn that a New World continental barrier blocked the way. In the course of

time and in a slow but gradual unfolding of a foreordained destiny, California

astonished the world with her stores of gold and her succeeding greater

material wealth in the soil and products thereof, and her name was acclaimed

the synonym for a wealth incomparably greater and more substantial than all the

fabled and dreamed of treasures of the Indies. 




It was long the subject for

wonder and amazement with early travelers and the sea commanders that

California so rich and fertile, a great territory capable of sustaining such a

large population, and a region so remarkably favored by nature in all things

conducive to man's comfort, happiness and prosperity, should, for more than

three-quarters of a century during the Spanish-Mexican regime from 1767 to

1846, be left neglected, remain practically undeveloped, its vast gold-besprinkled

interior unknown and unexplored, and the stretch of country along an ocean

highway so ill protected as to make it the easy prey of any nation that would

have cared to seize it. The little known concerning the land and its isolation

were the main safeguards against such forcible seizure. 




During the later development

periods, California's geographical isolation and position was relatively a less

important controlling factor than in the times of discovery exploration.

Stretching along the unknown Pacific, the right to control the commerce on

which the Spaniards asserted, and next door neighbor to their Mexican province,

it was natural that they should discover California and hold possession. No

reason then to imagine that the English speaking settlers from the extreme

eastern continental shore would come and control the most remote and isolated

western border. Previous to the adventitious discovery of gold, in January,

1849, California was practically unpeopled, save for the few scattered Spanish

settlements near the sea-coast by those who had come by the comparatively

easier and shorter journey from Mexico, helped out by occasional Americans and

others landed or deserting from trading vessels, or wandering across the

country as hunter, trapper or adventurer. 




It required a transcendental

event to bring about, as it did, California's phenomenally rapid settlement, to

brave and overcome the physical obstacles and geographic barriers on the

months' long and dangerous overland journey. But for the lure of gold,

California might have long continued a sparsely populated country to be settled

and developed slowly by a farming class as Oregon and Washington were in large

part. The real, positive and unlooked for development of the state began with

the discovery of gold. Only natural that Spain should be first to send

settlers, but her error was in not practically following up her decided

advantages in the presented opportunity. Existing conditions in a country of

plenty and the easy life in a genial climate, without necessity for arduous

toil ''tended no doubt toward stagnation rather than progress." Had these

pioneers and their descendants been of as progressive a race as those that were

to dispossess them, the very barriers separating the west from the east would

have been Mexico's most helpful agency in retaining her California province. 




As established in the

Californias, the missions were as much political as religious institutions, and

they were accorded the protection of the king's soldiers, wretchedly equipped,

ill-paid and frequently unpaid for long as they were. Kings of Spain and

viceroys of Mexico made their entrances and exits on the world's stage, but

California slumbered along and underwent little material change from the

discovery days under Cortez, save for the fringe of civilization planted along

the sea-coast and spread out thinly from the twenty-one missions from San Diego

to Sonoma. In 1831 these missions had already lost much of their splendor and

greatness. The downhill grade began in 1824, followed by secularization in

1845, sale of a number of missions for a song, and the neglected Indian

converts scattered to run wild and wretched over the country. 




Almost up to the time that the

great immigration upon the gold discovery startled the world, ushering in an

era so extraordinary in history that H. H. Bancroft, the California historian,

has epitomized it in the trite phrase, "The Inferno of 49," the

interior valley country, which has been the wealth basis of the state through every

development stage, continued terra incognita practically. The little known

concerning it was indefinite and much of this conjectural. The very purpose for

which the information was gathered — if it was with a definite object in view —

existed no more because secularization under the Mexican republic had sealed

the doom of the missions and bereft the padres of power and property. The sun

then set on the golden age of the missions, the day of another race dawned and

with it was ushered in the real and too long held back advancement of a sadly

neglected land. 


















 




 




CHAPTER IV




 




"And it all availed

nothing." 




Little effect on the substantial

new conditions after the American conquest had all the impotent efforts to

block manifest destiny during the three quarters of a century of the Spaniard

and the Mexican, with the heroic work of the padres in their missionary and

civilizing labors. The quoted phrase epitomizes in fitting epitaph the passing

of the Spanish rule in California (1769-1828) with its ten vice-regal

governors, of the Mexican rule (1822-46) with its thirteen governors, and

incidentally the end of the efforts of the padres, at times arising almost to

the sublimity of martyrdom, to convert the Indian and introduce an effete

civilization. 




The two periods cast over the

early history of California a glamor of romance and the picturesque but added

little or nothing to the real and materialistic. No effort in Upper California

at colonization was made for a little more than two and one-half centuries

after Juan R. Cabrillo's voyage in 1542-3 exploring the coast line, half a

century before the discovery of Massachusetts bay, nor for more than 160 years

after Sebastian Viscaino's, in November and December, 1602, when he set foot in

the harbors of San Diego and Monterey. 




To prevent Russian encroachment

southward from Fort Ross and Bodega bay and to convert the Indians, successive

land and sea expeditions sent out from Mexico eventually established a chain of

twenty-one military and religious establishments located at intervals of a

day's journey by horse along or near the coast. 




The first of these was founded by

Padre Junipero Serra in July, 1769, and the last in August, 1823, as one of two

north of the Bay of San Francisco, blunderingly located by Caspar de Portola in

a search for Monterey Bay, but ignorant to the last that he had given the world

one of its three greatest harbors. San Francisco Bay was long after its

discovery mapped as Sir Francis Drake's Bay and was so shown in Colton's Atlas,

published as late as 1855 for use in the public schools. In the very early

history of California, Serra, the simple friar, was the greatest pioneer, the

first civilizer of the western coast, the very heart and soul of the spiritual

conquest, and he it was who "lifted California from the unread pages of

geological history and placed it on the modern map." 




Upper California's physical

geography was imperfectly known until after American explorers and scientists

investigated. Little attention was paid this subject further than to learn

something generally of the country on the ocean border from San Diego to Fort

Ross. This was a forty to fifty miles-wide strip comprising the white

settlements concerning which anything was known with accurate particularity. So

also as regards the boundaries. Not until the Americans seized Oregon was it

that they, and not the English under claim of the Francis Drake (1579) and

George Vancouver (1791-94) discoveries, were dealt with in settling the

northern boundary dispute. The eastern line question was not determined until

the entire country came into the possession of the United States after the war

with Mexico. Even then the segregation was by the Americans themselves with

California's admission into the union in September, 1850. Down to the American

conquest, the Californians occupied only a negligible portion of the interior,

yet while knowing nothing of the country east of the Sierras, save by report,

they asserted claim to the land as far eastward as Salt Lake. 




The coast mission sites were

located with reference to sea harbors at San Diego, Monterey, Santa Barbara,

Santa Cruz and San Francisco, while the others on the Camino del Rey (King's

Highway), connecting them all, were selected with special regard to water for

irrigation. California's climate was similar in general to that of Mexico and

the solicitude of the padres was ever to choose well-watered sites in fertile

valleys for their establishments. Their judgment of sites was admirable.

Settlements along the camino manifested no tendency to spread from the coast.

The interior was so inaccessible and appeared so dry and inhospitable. The

fathers discouraged mining — in short there was no inducement to explore the

interior, while the isolation tended to self-support and the development of a

quiet pastoral life. 




Barter there was none, except in hides

and tallow with the periodical New England traders, and hence cattle raising

became the industry. Geographic considerations determined the location of the

settlements and the occupation of their founders. The seaports and valleys

would probably otherwise have received most of the new comers, until they came

to appreciate the necessity for irrigation, when they would gradually have

spread to the interior. The search for gold in turn headed them from the

agricultural districts into the gulches and canyons of the Sierras, and so with

the great stampede, mining camps and towns .sprang like mushrooms in the Sierra

foothill belt. Locations were controlled by convenience to some rich bar or

stream, often in narrow gulch or on steep mountain slope, rarely with regard to

farming prospects or future lines of travel, activity or centers of population,

accounting for the desertion of so many of them with the later changed

conditions. 




The Spaniards extended the

exploration of California with exasperating slowness during the half century

and more that they were in undisturbed possession. After Juan B. de Anza's

time, in 1774, most of the information concerning the interior was gathered in

the search for sites for a projected interior parallel line of missions, or lay

punitive military expeditions pursuing runaway neophytes. 




Thus in 1804 Padre Martin crossed

the range to the Tulares, which he appears to have explored as far as the Kings

River. Gov. Jose J. de Arrillaga (March 1800-July 1814), an enterprising

soldier and a more zealous religionist than any of his predecessors, planned in

1806, a more extensive exploration of the interior than any before undertaken.

A party was sent out from each of the four presidios. The one from Santa

Barbara headed direct across the range via Santa Inez to the neighborhood of Buena

Vista and Kern lakes and passing eastward re-explored at least part of the region

that Padre Garces visited thirty years before. It returned via Mission San

Gabriel, reporting the Indians well-disposed but only one available mission

site. 




In September, 1806, Ensign

Gabriel Moraga, great Indian fighter and the most enterprising of the soldier

explorers of his day, left Mission San Juan Bautista with a party of fifteen,

crossed direct to the San Joaquin River which he had named nu an earlier visit,

striking the river near the northern line of Fresno County. Turning north, he

discovered and named the Mariposa River and he found what he regarded as a

fairly good site near the present city of Merced. Continuing north, he crossed

three other rivers which he named, and then came upon the Tuolumne tribe of

Indians — the first recorded mention of them. 




At a large stream which some

previous expedition possibly commanded by him had named, Moraga turned back on

October 4, dividing his party by sending one section along the eastern side of

the valley and skirting the Sierra foothills, while the other wended its way

further westward. At any rate Moraga observed the entire valley to its southern

limit more thoroughly than it had ever before come under human scrutiny. As the

result of these expeditions. President Tapis, who had succeeded Lasmen as head

of the missions, reported four or five good sites discovered, but that a new

presidio would have to be provided to protect them. 




In 1807 Moraga made another

journey to the San Joaquin Valley with a party of seventy-five, going as far as

the foothills of the Sierras, and in 1810 two more. On the first he started out

from the Mission San Jose and returned via San Juan Bautista: on the other he

revisited the Merced country in quest of runaways, captured thirty and brought

back a few hostiles. 




The accompanying padres said that

they found the Indians generally tractable and well disposed. In the Tulare

country many children were presented for baptism, but as no assurance was

forthcoming that they would be reared in the faith the padres declined to

administer the sacrament. They baptized however many old and sick people, who

were in immediate danger of death, and remained with some of these until the

end. 




Moraga is admittedly foremost in

the early exploration visits to the interior of California, but there is one

other — Padre Francisco Garces — to share honors for an intrepid undertaking.

By this time eight missions had been founded, three more projected along the

coast and Padre Serra had had his heart's desire gratified in the mission at

San Francisco dedicated to St. Francis, patron saint of his priestly order.

Padre Garces was of the Portola first land expedition from Sonora in Mexico to

Monterey in California in 1774, and one of the most remarkable of missionary

explorers of the southwest. He was located at a frontier mission near the

Apache country border, exposed to all the dangers from those daring marauders.

He was left behind at Yuma "to teach religion" to the Indians until

Anza's return from his second land expedition, in 1775-76, with settlers from

the Colorado with which to found the San Francisco mission. 




Without following up the

itinerary, suffice it to say that, when ready in February to begin one of the

longest and most dangerous journeys undertaken by him, it was with the hope of

opening another route north of that which Anza had trailed across the

inhospitable desert and more direct from the Colorado to the Mission of San

Luis Obispo, or as far north as Monterey, if fortune favored. 




On this journey he discovered the

Mojave River at its sink and reached San Gabriel mission in March, crossing the

San Bernardino mountains. In the Tulare valley he came upon Indians differing

from any before met with in that they lived in enclosed camps, each family in

its own house, walled, tule roofed and with nightly guard stationed at each

house. These Indians aided him to cross the Kern River near the present site of

Bakersfield. A five days northward journey brought him to White River, where,

having no more presents for distribution and being dependent upon strange

tribes for food, he turned back reluctantly, having reached the latitude of

Tulare Lake, though he did not behold it as he was probably not far from the

base of the mountains and much farther east. 




To paraphrase Z. S. Eldredge's

History of California: He was now in that great interior valley toward which

the gold hunters of the world turned so eagerly three-quarters of a century

later. Lightly concealed in the beds of the mountain streams farther north, lay

more gold than Cortez had wrung from Mexico or Pizarro from Peru . . . and

succeeding generations would find in the soil of the valley itself a far more

permanent source of wealth. He had opened the way thither alone, unhelped by a

single fellow being of his kind or kindred, he had explored it, braving the

unknown dangers of the wilderness, the heat and thirst of the desert, the rush

of mountain torrents, the ferocity of wild beasts, and the treachery of

savages. He had reduced himself so nearly to the level of the savage that he

was able to live as he lived, feed as he fed, on the vilest food, sleeping as

he slept, in his filthy and vermin haunted camps, and exposing his life

constantly to his treacherous impulses. And it all availed nothing! 




On rejoining his Indian

companions who had refused to proceed farther with him among the unknown

tribes, Garces set out by return route more to the east than the one by which

he had come. He probably crossed the mountains at the Tehachapi pass, following

the present day route of the Southern Pacific railroad to the neighborhood of

Mojave, and thence made direct for the Colorado and Yuma country and following

the Gila arrived at San Xavier del Bac in September. 




In this long tour he was

accompanied only by Indians, his one associate companion, Estavan Tarabel, a

runaway San Gabriel mission neophyte, who had proven a failure as a guide on

Anza's first Sonora-Monterey overland expedition. The Indians acted as

interpreters but when they failed him Garces had recourse to the sign language.

To arouse interest in his story of religion he exhibited his pictorial banner.

He also relied upon his compass which never failed to interest and delight the

Indian, and his cross, rosary and missal. In his rewritten diary, he furnished

much information which should have been of moment to the authorities, "but

it was not for the reason that they did not use it." 


















 




 




CHAPTER V




 




The unexplored interior, or that

central portion that was at all known to the Californians, was named the

Tulares, or the Tulare country, because of the immense tule swamps formed in

the depression or slough between Tulare Lake and the great bend of the San

Joaquin, and above it by the Kern and other small bodies of water from the

streams from the Sierras on the east and south. This slough carried the surplus

waters of lake and upper part of valley off into the rivers in flood seasons.

The valley was dry under foot in summer and autumn seasons and in drouth

periods. Around the lakes and sloughs for miles, along almost the full length

of the San Joaquin and the lower half of the Sacramento and over a large

territory of low ground about their mouths, extensive tule covered swamp lands

formed, salty where affected by ocean tides but fresh or brackish where not. 




The tule swamps, apparently one

immense tract to the eye, were at intervals visited by the Spaniards and the

Californians in pursuit of deserting Indians, and horse and cattle thieves.

That region now embraced in Fresno, Kings and Tulare counties was inhabited by

a warlike band of horse riding Indians, who not infrequently descended upon

missions and ranches to run off stock and particularly mustangs, the Indian

having a great fondness for horseflesh as an article of diet. The renegades

piloted their wilder brothers on the forays and raids. These Tulareans were

never subdued by the Spaniards, and the Tulares became in time a rendezvous for

the runaway neophytes of the missions. They were also resorted to by horse

thieves from New Mexico and elsewhere, and by Spanish and American adventurers

to buy horses. John C. Fremont, concerning whom Senator Nesmith of Oregon once

said that he had the credit with some people of having found everything west of

the Rockies, had no moral scruples on his 1846 expedition to buy 187 horses

from these Tulareans, despite the warning of John A. Sutter that he would

receive stolen animals. A hunting knife and a handful of beads bought a horse. 




Many were the expeditions sent to

the Tulares. The first of which there is record was in 1773, when Pedro Fages

with a few soldiers sallied out from San Luis Obispo across the Coast Range to

the vicinity of Tulare Lake in pursuit of runaways. He was the first white man

to look upon the great interior valley. 




This Fages was a brave soldier,

an undaunted explorer, a pioneer of pioneers and a gallant and picturesque

figure of early California, who as a subaltern was prominent and foremost in the

first land explorations of California as well as of the bay of San Francisco

with Portola. He was California's first comandante of the military (1769-1773).

He quarreled with Father President Serra, who had him deposed, but later

retracted his accusations as unmerited. He was the fourth governor (1782-1790)

and during his regime the wife's accusations and actions involved him in a

juicy scandal agitating Monterey social circles from center to circumference.

The end all was to prove that Fages was more sinned against than sinning, and

the donna a woman, whose tact and discretion left much to be desired. In his

retirement days, Fages was never out but he was followed by a band of children,

attracted by the candies that he stuffed his pockets with for distribution

among them. 




The Tulares as the refuge of

outlaws and evildoers was not infrequently the scene of conflicts with them. In

1805 a small military party was sent out from Mission San Jose to punish

gentiles (Indians that were never affiliated with mission) who had attacked a

missionary who had gone on an errand of mercy to their rancheria, and one of

whose attendants had been killed. This party pursued the malcontents as far as

the San Joaquin River, recovering thirty or forty runaways and capturing a lot

of gentiles. 




The routed survivors of the

general uprising of February, 1824, against the Santa Barbara channel cordon of

missions, fled to the valley and were pursued in June following by 103 soldiers

with two field pieces. The Indians when overtaken in camp at Tulare Lake

displayed a white flag. A conference followed, the two priests acted as

negotiators, and as a result unconditional surrender, pardon and enforced

return to their respective missions. The number engaged in this revolt was

upwards of 400. Had their secret conspiracy succeeded, there would have been

massacre at all the missions. Its failure discouraged other attempts for a

time. Santa Inez and Purisima with burning of the buildings and Santa Barbara

were the missions attacked. 




Not until the spring of 1829 was

there another general uprising, this time of the neophytes of Santa Clara and

San Jose, who deserted and fortified themselves with gentiles near the San

Joaquin River. A San Francisco expedition of fifteen men under Sergeant Antonio

Soto was dispatched to capture the fugitives and destroy the fortification, but

it was repulsed in penetrating a thicket of willows and brambles and withdrew

to San Jose, where Soto died from his wounds. The Indians celebrated their

victory with feasting and dancing, while neighboring rancherias made common

cause with them, and the uprising threatened to become a dangerous one,

necessitating rigorous repressive measures. Jose Sanchez was sent with a second

expedition of forty from the San Francisco presidio but retired to San Jose

without risking a second storming of the inner works on finding that the

Indians had set up several strong lines of wooden palisades, the first of which

had been destroyed. 




A third expedition of one hundred

from Monterey under Ensign M. G. Vallejo joined the Sanchez force with Indian

auxiliaries, and after a desperate fight the fugitives were driven from their

intrenchments, unable to withstand the musketry and cannonading. After the

fight, "a most shocking and horrible butchery of prisoners took

place." The auxiliaries ranging themselves in a circle were permitted to

exercise their skill in archery upon the hapless prisoners in their midst,

others were hanged from trees with vine ropes and old women shot down in cold

blood. Estanislao, the native alcalde, who instigated the uprising, escaped the

slaughter, delivered himself up to Father Narciso Duran of San Jose who

concealed him for a time and finally secured his pardon. 




Finishing his bloody campaign,

Vallejo returned to San Jose and Monterey. Father Duran attempted to have him

prosecuted for "the greatest barbarity ever perpetrated in the

territory." One soldier was sentenced to five years penal servitude for

shooting down a defenseless old squaw, but Vallejo escaped trial. Duran, who as

a Spaniard opposed the republic, as did all the missionaries, wielded less

influence than Vallejo, who as usual ranged himself on the popular side and was

in the line of promotion, wherefore according to Historian T. H. Hittell

"by degrees the bloody story was supplanted in the public mind by matters

which were supposed to be of more immediate importance." 




Gen. M. G. Vallejo, as he was

later known, was a man who has been given much prominence in the written early

history of California, as well under the Mexican as the American regime. He was

a delegate to the Monterey constitutional convention, honored politically then

and afterward, a leader and spokesman for the California-born Spanish speaking

population, lived the life of a feudal lord and baron at Sonoma with the

history of the region north of San Francisco largely that of his own family,

held the military title of General to his dying day yet never commanded more

soldiers than would make up the complement of one company, reveled in wealth and

luxury in the halcyon days and lived his later days in comparative poverty, was

as proud as the most blue-blooded Hidalgo until the very last, was honored by

the Society of California Pioneers, having arrived July, 1808, and by the

Native Sons of the Golden West, a quoted authority on early California history,

a friend at one time and the opponent at another, of the dominant Roman

Catholic church, importing and collecting for private reading and library in

his younger days the very books that were forbidden by the church, and foremost

as an influential individual in yielding to and advocating the change under

American territorial acquisition. 




A reading between the lines of

history impresses one that he was a very accommodating spirit, best described

by the present-day term of a "political trimmer." His advocacy of the

American regime was at a time when his opposition might have been feared for

its possible results when the popular sentiment was not over friendly to the

American cause. 




But what mattered it that a few

Indians, more or less, were wantonly massacred? Some of the whites were no more

considerate or humane. 




Towards the end of 1833, because

of the frequency of raids by Indian horse thieves, it became the custom to send

monthly expeditions, aided by rancheros, to overawe the marauders. It was not

unusual for them to make slave prisoners of gentile children, wherever met

with. An instance came under the notice of Governor Figueroa in the early part

of 1835 as the result of a San Jose expedition and the kidnaping of seven

children. He denounced the outrage in unmeasured terms, ordered the papooses

placed in the mission until the parents could call for them, directed that no

more expeditions be sent except in actual pursuit of horse thieves, and then only

with express governmental permission. Figueroa had great sympathy for the

Indian, due as much to his humanity as to his Aztec blood. He was so well

thought of that he was called the "Benefactor of the Territory of Alta

California." 




Lieut. Theodore Talbot, U. S. N.,

who had been left in command with nine men at Santa Barbara in September at the

outbreak of the Californian insurrection, following the raising of the flag and

after the retaking of Los Angeles, was called upon to surrender by one of the California

military commanders. Talbot refused, but unable to resist the force of 200

against him retired to the mountains. His little party fought the pursuers, and

fire was set to the woods to burn them out. Talbot and men escaped the flames

and eluded the pursuit. An old soldier of ex-Governor Micheltorena, who was

unfriendly to the Californians because of their expulsion of his former chief,

piloted the pursued ninety miles across the mountains into the Tulares. From

here they groped their way for about a month, mostly on foot, enduring

hardships and suffering, for some 500 miles to Monterey, arriving early in

November and rejoining Fremont after having been given up for dead. 


















 




 




CHAPTER VI




 




Fresno County lies in the heart

of the San Joaquin Valley, and the latter is the central portion of the state.

Fresno City is practically the geographical center of the state, as it is the

central spot of the valley. As valley or county, the region is one with many

claims to distinction and not" a few to supremacy. Fresno is one of the

five richest agricultural counties in the United States. 




Between the San Joaquin and the

Kings rivers, streams that rise in the perpetual snows of the Sierras, bringing

the life-giving waters out upon the parched plains, to yield in orchard,

vineyard and alfalfa fields, returns greater than ever did the local gold

placers, lies a broad-backed divide,, known as the Fresno plateau, though to

the eye it is a part of the undulating fertile plains of the great valley. The

plain-like Sacramento-San Joaquin Valley — The Great Valley of California — was

once a vast inland sea. Geological proof of this is not lacking. The plain is

400 miles long and fifty to seventy wide, in the very heart of the state,

nestling at the foot of the Sierra Nevadas, or Snowy Mountains, and according

to scientists is one of the oldest, present day, existing physical features of

California. Sparsely settled as yet, the prophetic predict that it will someday

support" the bulk of the state's agricultural population. 




The Sierra Nevada is a range of

extreme scenic grandeur and natural beauty, some of its valleys, as the

Yosemite, the Forks of the Kings, and the Hetch-Hetchy, presenting sublime

scenic spectacles. The range protects from the east the long, central, fruitful

valleys of the San Joaquin and of the Sacramento. The Coast Range parallels the

sea coast line and protects from the west. They unite near the 40th parallel

and combined, extend northward into Oregon as the Cascade Range. The Great

Valley is a basin between the two first ranges, gradually rising to them

through foothills. The northern branch of the trough-like plain is known as the

Sacramento r and the southern as the San Joaquin Valley, each drained by a

river of the same name, heading from opposite directions, uniting in the

valley's western center and coursing westward to empty into San Francisco Bay. 




There was a time when the

combined stream went out into the ocean through the Golden Gate, but owing to

the sinking of the coast, in a great convulsion of nature and the earth, of

which there is a hazy Indian tradition, the river was "drowned."

Tidal influence is felt now no further inland than at Sacramento and Stockton.

The coast subsidence once flooded the lower part of the valley, as even now at

the junction of the rivers an overflowed' delta and marsh is forming and slowly

being made into dry land by silting, the surface overgrown with tules. These

reclaimed marshlands have proven remarkably productive. When the gold seekers

first appeared, the Feather River was navigable by small boat to Marysville in

Yuba County, and the Sacramento as far as Red Bluff in Tehama County. Today

they are scarcely navigable above Sacramento. The San Joaquin carries less

water than the Sacramento, although dredging could make it navigable. 




Time was when the San Joaquin was

navigable for freight scows, towed by light draught tugs, in spring high water,

above the present railroad bridge across the river at Herndon in this county.

Miller & Lux provisioned their big cattle ranches thus, and by water sent

to market hides and spring wool clips. Millerton, the old county seat, was at

times so provided with merchandise as a cheaper means of transportation than

hauling by freight wagons from Stockton. The river was a navigable stream as

far as Sycamore Point, above Herndon, and was so delineated on the old maps. So

well recognized was the fact that when a bridge was put in at Firebaugh, it was

made a draw so as not to impede navigation of the stream. A demonstration river

journey from Stockton with a light river steamer was successfully made in the summer

of 1911 in connection with an abortive agitation for a reduction of railroad

freight rates and a congressional appropriation for the dredging of the river

as a navigable stream as in the days of yore to near Fresno. 




The Coast range streams flowing

eastward into the San Joaquin are small and dry in the summer. Those from the

Sierras, flowing westward, are large, permanent and supply the water for

irrigation. The main drainage line of the valley is consequently forced over to

the west side by the delta accumulations on the Sierra side. In evidence of

this, the Kings has silted up so large a delta as to block the one time

continuous drainage of the valley and form Tulare Lake behind the dam as a

permanent body of water. Later so much water was taken for irrigation that with

the evaporation the lake almost went dry and the lake shores were farmed. A few

years ago, six in fact, the water accumulated again and the lake was reproduced

but of reduced size. The Kern River's debris also dammed the valley, creating

Buena Vista and Kern Lakes at the extreme southern end, though in high water

stages Buena Vista discharges northward into the Tulare basin and also

southward into Kern Lake. 




The western sides of the valley

are much drier than the eastern because of the Coast range barrier, and

therefore are in greater need of irrigation. Much of this land will bear good

grain crops in average rainy years. Other large areas are semi-arid and

suitable only for grazing during the spring months. Nearly one-third of Fresno

County's area is on the dry west side, which if ever brought under irrigation

would yield results to duplicate the agricultural wonders of the past and add

immensely to the productive wealth of the county. 




The climatic extremes of the

valley are greater than in the coast region. The summers are hot, but the air

is dry and the temperature is borne therefore with less discomfort than the

summer eastern weather. In this dry summer heat, the valley counties have a

most valuable asset. It ripens crops earlier and forms saccharine in the fruit,

while it enables the grower to dry it with the aid of the sun. The lack of

humidity prevents dew at night and thus maintains the drying process by night

and day. The humidity is at times as low as six percent, and while the mercury

may register 110 degrees this temperature is felt less for discomfort than one

twenty or thirty degrees lower in a region of humidity. This desiccating summer

heat has made Fresno the world's raisin district, an extensive citrus fruit

grower and a leader in sun-dried fruit. Sunstroke is as great a rarity as a

snowstorm. The mean daily average maximum temperature from May to September is

eighty-one degrees, and the mean minimum during the remaining period fifty-eight

degrees. 




Experiment has demonstrated the

existence of an orange belt extending practically the entire length of the

eastern side of the valley from Bakersfield, in Kern County to Oroville, in

Butte County. In this connection there is the interesting fact to be noted that

oranges ripen earlier than in Southern California by one month to six weeks,

probably because the southern belt is not protected from the ocean winds and

cooling fogs as the central is, and the growth and maturation of the fruit is

slower. Latitude has apparently little influence on the climate. Near the coast

there is in reality only a few degrees difference between the northern and

southern temperature, yet there is an earlier appearance of spring fruit, and

in the ripening of oranges in the north than in the south. One must seek for

other modifying local conditions in the ocean, the wind and in mountain

barriers to account for the anomalous climatic variations. 




The semi-arid plains were once

considered valuable only as stock ranges. Grain was sowed, but with disastrous

results in dry years. An industrial change came about with irrigation, and

great ranch tracts were subdivided into small ones, which could be better taken

care of and yielded larger returns. Fresno County is proof of what irrigation

will do and has done. It is one of the pioneer irrigated regions of the coast,

the first experiment having been made in the early 70's near Fresno with four

sections in wheat. Fresno is pointed out today as the typical California

irrigation district. 




Describing this district system.

Department of Agriculture Bulletin 237 on "Irrigation in California"

said of Fresno: "Considering its area, it is the most highly developed

district in the state," It added: 




"Before the first irrigation

of grain was attempted near Fresno, the land could scarcely be sold at $2.50 an

acre, but as soon as the results of irrigation became known, land sales

increased and twenty-five dollars to thirty dollars an acre was given freely

for the raw land, which now when in deciduous trees or vines is worth $250 to

$500 per acre. The citrus lands of the foothills that now sell for $1,500 to

$2,000 per acre when in full bearing groves would be valueless without

irrigation." 




California's great valley is

exceptionally located and conditioned for a much larger population than it now

supports. Encompassed as it is by mountains, the drainage channels converge at

Carquinez straits, from which there is freightage with the world by deep sea

vessels, receiving their cargoes "at the very door of the valley." It

is maintained that when the Sacramento will have been navigably deepened to Red

Bluff and the San Joaquin dredged and by a canal tied in with the more southern

Tulare and Kern basins, the great region will be in a position to begin a

supplemental development without bounds. The scheme has been given serious

thought and tentative plans for it studied. To help out this water

transportation project, the valley is at present served by two transcontinental

railroads with numerous feeders. 




The student of history cannot

overlook the fact how little the waterways influenced the exploration and

settlement of California, or even to aid in the transportation of crops. Save

for irrigation, the streams of the state have not assisted inland development,

excepting the lower Sacramento, the San Joaquin in the days gone by, and the

smaller arms of San Francisco Bay. Yet the economic importance of the streams

as sources of power to be developed for commercial and manufacturing

enterprises cannot be ignored. The electric energy to be generated and

transmitted to any point is limitless. There is a woeful waste of the flood

waters, so that with the agricultural development of the valley for the greater

population to come conservation is imperative, because even now the increased

demands require such storage for use in summer, a time when water is needed

most and is scarcest. 




Of the three largest rivers of

the state, the San Joaquin-Sacramento is the most important irrigation water

provider with its" many branches heading in the snow-covered Sierras. The

Sacramento in the northern arm of the valley carries water in abundance, it is

thought, for all future agricultural needs, besides navigability. The San

Joaquin with the other streams of the southern arm carry not so much water as

will be required for the larger area to be irrigated. The fuller development of

this region, and of California for that matter, will be governed in large

measure by careful and rational conservation of the forests and streams. The

government has taken up this important subject. 




The Great Valley is well adapted

for water transportation, and the statement is not such a wild flight of fancy

that there will be a day when the natural water courses will have been

deepened, and light draught vessels will dot the plains of the interior basin.

There is no insurmountable engineering difficulty against a canal from Buena Vista

Lake at the extreme southern end of the valley northwest through Tulare Lake

and via the San Joaquin to tide-water. Indeed such a project in part was once

in the air in Fresno County to connect Tulare Lake with the San Joaquin River. 




Articles of incorporation of the

enterprise were filed, and the town-plat of Fresno City was recorded as on

Fresno Slough, or the South Branch of the San Joaquin, by A. J. Downer as the

agent for C. A. Hawley and W. B. Cummings, on April 25, 1860. The plat pictured

an ambitious town of eighty-nine blocks on both sides of the slough channel,

located a mile or two "from what is today Tranquility town in the big farm

colony of that name. La Casa Blanca (White House") the principal structure

of the town on paper, occupied as headquarters and the upper floor as a hotel,

stood for years a landmark on the slough after the project was abandoned. 




About the time of this enterprise

two men, Stone and Harvey, attempted to reach Tulare Lake with the small

stern-wheeler, Alta, descended the San Joaquin and the Kings River Slough as

far as Summit Lake, near the southern boundary line of the county and bordering

on the Laguna de Tache grant, but there it was stranded in one of the' slough

branches and abandoned upon subsidence of the water in the slough by drainage

consequent upon the dredging of the section nearest the San Joaquin, upon the

proof of which labor land patent had issued. 




Noncompliance however with the

law in other respects in the disposal of the reclaimed land resulted in successful

litigation in San Francisco to void the patent, and the enterprise came to

naught, leaving the stern-wheeler with its smoke-stack as another strange

landmark to excite the curiosity of the mail-stage passenger and of the lone

traveler or wanderer on the inhospitable and drear West Side plains. 




Later the stack was removed and

did service for years for one of the steam sawmills in the mountain forests in

the county. 




The only craft that ever passed

from Tulare Lake to tidewater was in 1868, when Richard Swift took a small

scow-boat, 16 x 18, through, loading it with a ton of honey at the mouth of

Kings River, passing through Summit Lake and Fish Slough, thence through what

was known as Fresno Slough into the San Joaquin. It was with the hope of the successful

issue of the canal enterprise that on January 21, 1860, the steamboat, Visalia,

was completed on Tulare Lake for the navigation of the San Joaquin between

Stockton and Fresno City, where the overland stages halted and near which at

the head of Fresno Slough steamers landed freight up to a few years before the

valley railroad extension from Lathrop. 




The 1911 agitation to open the

river to navigation came to naught because the government engineers reported

that the traffic in promise would not warrant the expense of dredging and

improving the river channel to make it navigable. At any rate the community

succeeded some years later in doing away with the discriminatory terminal

freight rate against Fresno and river navigation was left as a matter for

agitation for future years. It is like harking back to the dim past to read the

following newspaper publication of forty years ago (June, 1878) of practically

the last attempt at river navigation: 




"The steamer Clara Belle,

Capt. Jack Greier, unloaded lumber and posts for Gustavus Herminghaus at

Parker's old store, last Monday. This is only fourteen miles below the railroad

on the San Joaquin at Sycamore and is the highest point on the river ever reached

by steamer, and the only time a steamer has come up so far since 1867." 




And in explanation thereof the

following: 




"Gustavus Herminghaus, who

owns a very large tract of land bordering the San Joaquin River and the Fresno

Slough, has already received 250,000 feet of lumber by steamer, from San

Francisco and will fence in some 15,000 acres of fine grazing land. The fence

will follow the line of surveyed road from White's to Fresno, and will force

travel from its present and long used route along the river." 


















 




 




CHAPTER VII




 




Total manifested gold shipments

from California ports via Panama from April, 1849, to the close of 1856, not

including unascertained sums taken on privately, are given as $365,505,454.

Estimated yield is reported as $596,162,061. Known receipts from this state

foot up $522,505,454, not including foreign shipments other than to England,

nor quantity manufactured in the United States, indicating a state total yield

after analysis of the figures of about $600,000,000. Estimate has been made

that since discovery, gold bullion in an amount exceeding $1,500,000,000 in

value has been produced in California. 




Singular it is that the exact

date of Marshall's discovery near Coloma, on the south fork of the American

River, should be a disputed question. Hittell gives January 19, 1848, as the

date. Bancroft says on Marshall's authority that the find was made between the

18th and 20th, but that the 19th has generally been accepted as the date.

Marshall was so confused as to time that Bancroft by other records fixed the

day as the 24th. And yet the event has been ranked second only in importance to

California's discovery and later settlement by the padres. 




A commission had been appointed

by Gov. William D. Stephens of California under the authority of a legislative

bill, the inspiration of that exclusively Californian fraternal order, of three

members of the Native Sons of the Golden West, to make research of historical

data to ascertain, if possible, the date of the discovery of gold and also to

correct the date of inscription on Marshall's monument at Coloma. Under

Assembly Concurrent Resolution No. 25 (42nd Session) the committee named by the

governor, Phillip B. Bekeart representing the Pioneers of California, Fred H.

Jung the N. S. G. W. and Grace S. Stoermer the N. D. G. W., made report October

15, 1918, based on entries in historical diaries, recorded statements and

conclusions drawn therefrom, to find that January 24, 1848, and not the 19th,

is the correct date of the discovery of gold in California and to recommend

that the inscription on the monument of Marshall at Coloma in El Dorado County

be corrected accordingly. 




Little dreamed the Mexicans of

the value of the land they ceded, other than as to its probable future value

commercially. As little, the buyers how fat the soil with wealth untold and

that rivers flowed over golden beds. Between the discovery and cession periods

of the territory, many examinations were made by enterprising and inquisitive

officers and civilians, but none discovered that the Sierra Nevada streams

poured golden sands into the valleys of the Sacramento and the San Joaquin. No

hint of it in legend or tradition was learned from white or red man. As

Historian John Frost remarks: "A nation's ransom lay within their grasp

but strange to say it escaped their notice — it flashed and sparkled all in

vain." Capt. Sutter, despite a residence of ten years in the vicinity of

the discovered placer regions, was none the richer or wiser for the treasure

about him lightly concealed under the surface soil. 




It is a remarkable fact, which

has been more or less commented upon, that with the insatiable greed for gold

the Spaniard, and those that followed him, never made investigation to

ascertain the existence or non-existence of it, or that if they did and made

discovery that the secret was kept inviolate. The fact is, however, that the

existence of gold was unknown by them and the Indians. The latter had no golden

ornaments — in fact did not know of the value of gold, until the white man taught

him it in barter at the trading post stores, and then further presumed on his

ignorance by exchanging gold ounce for commodity or whiskey ounce, glass bottle

included. 




Governmental examinations had

been made but no discoveries of minerals resulted. True, there was conjecture

that from the region's undoubted volcanic origin and peculiar geological

features gold or other valuable mineral deposits might exist. Chance disclosed

what inquiry had failed to reveal, and in a few weeks California was agitated to

fever heat, nearly all the population became infected and flocked to the mines.

By August some 4,000 people, including Indians, were washing the river sands

and gravel for gold, the washings confined to the low wet grounds and the

margins of the streams and the daily yields from ten dollars to fifty dollars

per man but often much exceeded. 




Every stream in the valleys came

under scrutiny. Gold was found on almost every tributary of the Sacramento, and

the richest earth on the Feather and its branches, the Yuba and the Bear, and

on Weber's creek, a tributary of the American fork. Prospectings in the valley

of the San Joaquin also resulted, but later, in gold discoveries on the

Cosumnes, the San Joaquin, Fresno, Chowchilla, Merced and Tuolumne, besides in lesser

quantities in the ravines of the western Coast Range as far as Los Angeles. 




The valleys were explored as

never before, and with the spread of the contagion man came to know the San

Joaquin Valley, up to now the stamping ground of wild Indians and outlaws, the

grazing ranges of immense herds of elk, antelope and wild mustangs, with the

plains in their wake footprinted by the stalking grizzly bear and the loping

coyote. The territory now comprising Fresno County was absolutely unknown and

with state government was yet to be a part of Mariposa until independent county

organization in April, 1856. 




There had been reports of gold

discoveries before Marshall's, but if true they created little more than local

stirs and did not come to the knowledge of the enterprising and wide awake

Americans. That Capt. J. D. Smith found gold in 1826 on his first crossing of

the Sierras "near Mono Lake"' may be true, but if he did it was on

the eastern side of the range. In 1841 gold was found in Santa Clara County on

Piru Creek, a branch of the Santa Clara, but the find in March, 1842, at San

Francisquito near Los Angeles, as mentioned elsewhere, was a genuine one, and

it may be said that considerable gold was extracted in all the region from the

Santa Clara River to Mount San Bernardino. 




In greater or lesser quantity, it

has been found in almost every part of the state, but nowhere and never in such

deposits as on the western slope of the Sierras in the quartz veins, in the

gravel and clay of ancient river beds and in the channels of existing streams.

It is another remarkable fact that geology has not been able to explain that

gold should be found on the one side and silver on the other of the Sierras.

The gold occurs in virgin state, the silver in various ores. The western slope

of the Sierras rich in gold, the eastern in silver, the Coast range is equally

rich in quicksilver in red cinnabar, especially at New Almaden (1845) south of

San Jose, later found at New Idria in San Benito (in a corner formerly of

Fresno) and about St. Helena in Napa County. 




There never was and has not been

since, in history, such a stampede as was started by the discovery at Coloma.

In twelve months it attracted to California more than 100,000 people of all

nationalities, and commerce sprang up with China, Mexico, Chili and Australia,

while yet in governmental confusion. The world was wild and delirious, and

while only another remarkable incident in the state's history, it did hasten as

no other event could have the assumption of state sovereignty and the

development so certain to follow acquisition of the land. There was a wild

scramble for the mines, the daily gold accumulations ranged from $30,000 to

$50,000, the discovery wrought a marvelous and almost incredible change in the

character of the country, laborers, professionals and tradesmen tramped the

crowded trail for mountain gulch or ravine, soldier and sailor deserted, and

there was a social upheaval with excesses and lawlessness for a time, with

labor commanding fabulous wages and prices of commodities and foodstuffs

prohibitive, even when they could be had. The exodus to California has for its

magnitude been likened to that of the Crusades of the Middle Ages. The Annals

of San Francisco, published in 1854, records that there was soon gathered a

mixed population of the "wildest, bravest, most intelligent yet most

reckless and perhaps dangerous beings ever collected into one small district of

country." Thousands came after the American occupation not to stay but to

pick up a fortune quickly and return home. It was no longer the place "for

a slow, an overcautious or a desponding man." 




California was in complication

over land and mining claims. The Indian resented the taking of his hunting

grounds by the miners, and with the uncertainty of things the old regime

bewailed the coming of the Gringo, and lamented the discovery that attracted

the horde as a green pasture field does the locust or the grasshopper. The

dreamy days at the haciendas, life at the old missions with the patriarchal

padres, all the idle days were no more. A feverish excitement prevailed with

gambling, drunkenness, horseracing and stealing, claim jumping and worse

things. The days of '49 "beheld one of the most reckless, heterogeneous

societies ever brought together." 




In January, 1849, according to a

memorial of Senators Gwin and Fremont to Congress, while waiting for the

state's admission to take their seats, the estimated population was: 




 




Californians, 13,000; Americans,

8,000; Foreigners, 5,000; Total, 26,000. 




 




As a result of the gold find, a

population of at least 107,000 was claimed for the state as follows: 




 




Estimate as above                                                               13,000






Pacific ports sea and Sonora land

arrivals January-April '49      8,000 




San Francisco sea arrivals,

April-December 1849                    29,000 




Other ports                                                                        1,000






Southern overland                                                              8,000






From Mexico                                                                     7,000






Deserting sailors                                                                 3,000






Overland via Salt Lake                                                          25,000






Total                                                                                 107,000






 




All enumerations of the day may

be accepted as inflations and little better than wild-eyed estimates because of

the shifting character of the population as well as because of the other

difficulties in making any reliable canvass. The variance of the various

reported figures is irreconcilable. The figures emphasize though the immensity of

the California-ward movement of the day. The world had been inoculated with the

gold fever, California had a heterogeneous population, but no government, save

the makeshift authority exercised by a small and utterly inadequate military

force. 




California had leaped into

worldwide importance with Marshall's discovery of gold in that mill race on

that disputed January day in 1848. The excitement and immigration and the

insistent demand for a state government furnish a chapter in history without

like in the world. Somewhere someone has written that the brilliant audacity of

California's methods for admission into the union is without parallel in the

nation's history. Brilliantly audacious it was, truly, but only characteristic

of California and the Californians and of the abnormal condition of the times. 




Minerva, the mythological goddess

typical of endowment of mind and prominent and distinctive as the figure in the

foreground of the Great Seal of California, is emblematic and illustrative of

its sudden springing into the maturity of statehood as no other before or since

of the United States of America. 


















 




 




CHAPTER VIII




 




First reports from Coloma and

other placers excited general incredulity. The California Star on March 25,

1849, announced that gold dust was an article of traffic at Sutter's Fort. In

size and character of nuggets the mines were pronounced much richer than the

fields of Georgia, where gold was first discovered in the United States, also

more so than anything ever placered in Mexico. A half-pound parcel offered in

San Francisco, in April, in payment for provisions was accepted at eight

dollars per ounce, and the store was stampeded to stare on the golden dust. On

May 29, the Californian, and on June 14, the Star suspended, because the

printers had vamoosed for the mines. Every sacrifice was being made to reach

the mines. 




Thomas O. Larkin, who had been

consul at Monterey and secret agent of the government in the intrigue for the

acquisition of California, wrote to Secretary of State James Buchanan, at

Washington on June 1, 1848, describing conditions at San Francisco, from which

then 200 to 300 had gone to the mines out of a population, according to the

census of August, 1847, of 459, exclusive of the military and the Mission

Dolores, and that about $20,000 of dust had been exchanged for merchandise.

Half the houses in the town were closed. Spades and shovels that sold for one

dollar commanded ten dollars each in the mines. 




In a second letter from Monterey

of June 28, Larkin wrote that he had visited the mines and found them all and

more than he had anticipated. Miners were scattered over one hundred miles of

country from the Sacramento to the San Joaquin, between which the placers

extended. According to the best estimates, there were then 2,000 people at the

mines, nine-tenths of them foreigners. Larkin believed that a few

"thousand people in one hundred miles square of the Sacramento would

yearly turn out the price that the United States was to pay for the new

territory." Three-fourths of the houses in San Francisco were then empty,

and were being sold for the cost price of the land. Even Monterey, sleeping the

sleep of a Rip Van Winkle, had caught the infection. 




The gold discovery had been made

during the governorship of Colonel Mason, who on June 17, from Monterey,

accompanied by Lieutenant Sherman, visited the mines, finding en route San

Francisco almost deserted and everything going to waste and idle until arrival

at Sutter's Fort on July 2, where there was life and business bustle. Mason visited

the Lower mines at Mormon Diggings on the American River, where 200 men were at

work. At Coloma, little more than three months after the discovery, upwards of

4,000 were mining. Gold dust was abundant in everybody's hands. He estimated

that the yield from the mines was from $30,000 to $50,000 daily, and as they

were on public land he seriously debated whether or not to secure a reasonable

fee for mining. He resolved not to interfere unless broils and crime demanded.

Crime was infrequent though in the mines, and theft and robbery unknown in the

early period, despite the insecure deposit places for treasure. 




Mason was carried away by the

excitement, and while acknowledging in an official letter to the adjutant

general that he could not earlier bring himself to believe the reports

concerning the wealth of the gold district he wrote: 




"I have no hesitation now in

saying that there is more gold in the country drained by the Sacramento and the

San Joaquin Rivers than will pay the cost of the present war with Mexico a

hundred times over." 




No capital was required to obtain

gold, as the laboring man required nothing but pick and shovel and tin pan with

which to dig and wash the gravel, and many frequently picked gold in pieces of

from one to six ounces out of the crevices of the rocks with butcher knives. 




Mason's letter was published with

President Polk's congressional message of December, 1848, and with the

exhibited gold and cinnabar specimens from New Almaden, sent on by special

messenger, the news was spread in official and authoritative form. The gold

assayed over eighteen dollars an ounce. 




In a letter to Commodore Jones at

Mazatlan. Mason wrote that, treaty or no treaty, the gold discovery had decided

California's destiny, and he raised his estimate that the yield would pay the

war cost 500 times over. The war appropriation was $10,000,000, with

$15,000,000 as the consideration for the land cession and $3,000,000 assumed as

a damage debt due Americans, a total of $28,000,000, saving nothing of other

expenses of the war, 100 times $28,000,000 equals $2,800,000,000. 500 times

$28,000,000 equals $14,000,000,000. Mason was a little off on his figures: so

was Larkin. 




Many foreigners were at work at

the mines, so many that certain localities were named after nationalities. The

collection of the foreign miner's tax, afterward repealed, caused not a little

friction, but the reported race hostility against the foreigner was

exaggerated. Until the government should act in the matter, which it never did.

General Riley upon his later visit said he would not disturb anyone in mining,

nor would he countenance one class attempting to monopolize the workings of a

mine or drive out any other. 




The earliest important notice of

the discovery was published in the Baltimore Sun of September 20, 1848, by

which time private letters were arriving telling of the wonderful story. Soon

all the newspapers were full of the subject and consignments of gold confirmed

the tidings. Everybody talked California. The adventurous prepared for a general

grand rush by land and sea, by latter route long before the great overland tide

of '49 began. The Pacific Mail Steamship Company organized in April, 1848, and

its first steamer on the semi-monthly route between Panama and Astoria via San

Francisco was the California, which arrived at San Francisco on February 18,

1849. 




The early influx in the

emigration flood to the gold placers was of Mexicans from Sonora, then Chileans

and some Chinese. These assembled principally in the Southern Mines, which included

the San Joaquin and its tributaries at the lower extremity of the Mother Lode

originating in Mariposa County. Colonel Mason so much feared wholesale

desertion of the garrisons that in contemplation of the thought that the

laborer earned in the mines in a day more than double a soldier's pay and

allowances for a month he added in a report: "I really think some

extraordinary mark of favor should be given to those soldiers who remain

faithful to their flag through this tempting crisis." 




During the latter nine months in

1849, 233 vessels arrived in San Francisco from United States ports, besides

316 from foreign ports — a total of 549, averaging two daily and many

unseaworthy, veritable "floating coffins." The overland caravans

started in spring began to arrive in a continuous stream almost across the

continent, and crossing the Sierras landed for a few years their human freight

in the Sacramento and San Joaquin Valleys to scatter over the country. A great

and unparalleled spectacle was this immigration of 1849. 




 




NORTHERN AND SOUTHERN MINES




 




In July, 1849, General Riley

visited the mining regions by way of San Juan Bautista, crossing the San

Joaquin near the mouth of the Merced and examining the principal camps on the

Tuolumne and Stanislaus and their tributaries, then those on the Calaveras, Mokelumne,

Cosumnes and American, returning to Monterey by way of Stockton. The mining

country had by this time been divided in two sections, commonly known as the

Northern and the Southern Mines. Sutter's Fort, or Sacramento, was the interior

point from which the Northern Mines were reached, and Stockton, the new

settlement on Mormon Slough of the San Joaquin, for the Southern, being also

the distributing points for the districts and both accessible from San

Francisco by water. The traffic was enormous. The rivers, naturally clear

streams, had already commenced to become turbid, but they had deep,

well-defined channels and navigation for vessels of considerable draught was as

yet easy. 




Many of the mining camps in the

Sierra foothills became little towns, some to be abandoned with the

impoverishment of the placers, others to advance from tent aggregations to

villages of rough boarded houses, and yet others to permanency as towns. Not a

few as in the San Joaquin Valley that had arisen to the dignity of county seats

lost in time even that distinction with the advent of the railroad and the

removal of the seat and were abandoned as in Merced, Fresno, Tulare and Kern

Counties. 




In 1856 Dr. Trask, the state

geologist, reported that mining was successfully prosecuted in twenty-three

counties. The aggregate area in which gold was known to exist was estimated at

from 11,000 to 15,000 square miles, adding that "when this is compared

with the area actually occupied (probably not exceeding 400 square miles and

one-fourth of these old placers") the latter will be found to comprise a

mere mite of our available resources. With our present population of the mining

districts and the broad expanse of territory over which they are spread, they

appear like mere specks dotting the surface of an inland sea, so indistinct as

scarcely to be appreciable on the broad expanse by which they are

surrounded." Trask described the gold region as extending from the Oregon

line north to the Kern River south — 460 miles long by from ten to 150 in

width, and he classified the region into three distinct ranges — the Upper or

Eastern, the Middle Placers and the Valley mines. It was in the second range

that the greater proportion of the mining community was located, more

particularly in the central and eastern portions. The third range comprised the

districts among the foothills extending westward into the eastern edge of the

plains of the San Joaquin and Sacramento three to five miles and having a

linear distance of about 250 miles. 




The valley mines were on what

constituted the high terraces of the plains composed mostly of alluvial drift.

They were the most shallow of any of the discovered ranges and the most easily

worked, though nearly coextensive with the middle or upper districts, and

falling little short of the latter. In a review of the ranges, Trask said

incidentally: "It will be seen that we have still enough and to spare for

all who are present, and for all that may hereafter arrive, for at least the

next half century. There need be but little fear of their failing to yield

their annual crop of gold, as long, perhaps, as our valleys will yield their

crops of grain." 




The placers in the Fresno region

were almost at the extremity of the Southern Mines. The accepted dividing line

between the Northern and Southern Mines was the ridge on the north side of the

north fork of the Mokelumne. All the rivers of the Southern Mines were

tributaries of the San Joaquin. In extent of territory, population and yield,

the Southern were almost the equal of the Northern mines in the early period,

but they "petered out" more rapidly, and in a few years were

comparatively exhausted, except for quartz outcroppings, and were favored by

the Chinese and Indians more. 




The rivers of this southern

mining region were the Mokelumne, Calaveras, Stanislaus, Tuolumne, Merced and the

San Joaquin (in the foothills and mountains), with their forks. Spots in

favorable locations along the creeks as far south as the San Joaquin, where it

comes down in a westerly direction from the Sierras, repaid the miners with

good returns, but neither the placers nor the quartz veins were comparable with

those further north. The fact is the mines in this locality gave out at the San

Joaquin, as they did in the north where the Pitt River, tributary of the

Sacramento, came from the same mountain chain, and yet according to general

tradition Millerton on the San Joaquin in its palmy days of 1853 of the mining

period was as lively a miner's village with as many saloons and as much drinking,

as much gambling and as much roistering as any, isolated as it was in a pocket

of the foothills out of the line of travel. 




The gathered gold in gravels and

sands was not of uniform value, size or shape. The variance was so great that

an expert could readily distinguish them. The poorest usually came from the

Kern River, much mixed with silver. It improved in Fresno County, and even here

the gold varied much. It was better in Mariposa, and had a high standard in

Tuolumne, Stanislaus and Calaveras. The main original deposits were in quartz

or limestone veins on the western slope of the Sierras at elevations of 1,000

to 4,000 or 5,000 feet above sea level, and the chief of these was the Mother

Lode, traceable at or near the surface, from Mariposa to Amador County with

frequent branch veins. The Merced, Tuolumne, Stanislaus and Mokelumne Rivers,

with some of their tributaries, cut the lode at points where it branched,

eroding the quartz veins and depositing the gold downstream far or near. 




 




REMEMBERED EARLIEST CAMPS




 




Among the best remembered

earliest mining camps in the northeastern Fresno County region were Coarse Gold

Gulch, discovered in the summer of 1850, Texas Flat, Grub Gulch, Hildreth, Fine

Gold Gulch, Temperance Flat, Rootville the immediate predecessor of Millerton

on the San Joaquin and one mile below the fort, "Soldier Bar" and

"Cassady's Bar" on the bend of the river above the fort. The channel

of the river with its small tributaries from the bridge at Hamptonville, below

Millerton, was worked for forty miles up into the mountains. The Kings, which

contributes to the wealth of the county as the provider of the water for

irrigation and has its rise as high in the Sierras as the San Joaquin, has

never witnessed any mining operations, though some placer mining was once upon

a time conducted at or near what is now known as Piedra where the magnesite

mine in an entire mountain is located. Quartz locations on its banks have been

made many times, though no notable mine has been developed. 




It is conceded that during the

early mining period, as well as in subsequent years and as late as the 70's and

up to the 80's the gold placers and the surface outcroppings were well worked

over and exhausted. No portion of the county but has been prospected by the

grub-stake miner. Discoveries are being made to this day and quartz mine

locations are frequent occurrences. Even the old mining district boundary lines

are adhered to as a reminder of the past. These locations prove to be little

more than chance discoveries of pockets or vein outcroppings, raising great

expectations with no realization save in a few exceptions. No systematic

development of the mineral deposits has followed for self-evident reasons in

the too great risk of investment, cost of or lack of transportation and

remoteness of the locations. 




A marked map of the county would

show it peppered in spots as remote and inaccessible as the upper precipitous

gulches of the Kings River forks with mining locations and punctured with

prospects holes and developing tunnel openings with their dumps. Late in the

70's there was sporadic effort at a development of quartz mines, but no rich or

lasting ones resulted from the labor and money investments. Even the

picturesque and extravagant names of the most notable of these have passed from

memory. On the Madera side of the river in the drift gold gulches districts of

earliest days several mills were erected, but the life of the enterprises was

evanescent. In the end they were all money losers, encouraging though the first

prospects. The names of them if recalled are reminders of wasted effort and

misspent money. Not all were absolute failures, though all were abandoned and

are only memories now. The number of them spells legion. 




In Grub Gulch district was the

Josephine, owned by an English syndicate, fourteen miles northeast from

Raymond, located in 1880; also Les Mines d'Or de Quartz Mountain, a Belgian

corporation that sank, without any returns, a fortune of the stockholders in

erecting and locating a costly plant that has been idle for many years in

charge of a watchman and given over to the bats and owls. The Raymond quarries

have furnished granite for the state buildings at Sacramento, for miles upon

miles of street curbing in San Francisco and after a period of comparative

inactivity were drawn heavily upon for the rebuilding of the San Francisco

public and other buildings after the great disaster, and the later Panama

Exposition. The quarries at Academy in this county have and are furnishing

granite rock for ornamental architecture and grave stones and monuments. In the

inaccessible Minarets section, north of the San Joaquin there are said to be on

the southern slope inexhaustible iron deposits in practically a mountain of

almost pure metal, one of the known largest and richest iron ore deposits in

the world. 




The Kniepper copper mine, in the

Big Dry Creek district, was later developed as the Fresno, and a first

successful development of a copper ledge was that of the Ne Plus Ultra, on the

Daulton ranch on the Madera side and it actually for a time sent mats to

Swansea, Eng., for refining. It paid for a time but in the end petered out and

another costly experiment was charged up to experience and corresponding loss.

It was never resuscitated, evidence, however promising its fair prospects, that

the jig was up. The Copper King and the Fresno copper mines near Clovis

swallowed up small fortunes in exploitation and extravagant management. 




The Copper King, originally the

Heiskell mine, cost the British shareholders $400,000 in the exploitation.

Under the spectacular regime of Manager Daley, an F. F. V., there was a move to

erect smelter works, but neighboring fruit growers blocked it by injunction.

Expensive tractors were operated to convey ore to the railroad station, and were

abandoned after arousing the opposition of the county supervisors because of

the damage in cutting up the roads. Luxurious quarters were fitted up for the

manager, provided with electric lights, porcelain baths and other costly

appurtenances. The story is also authenticated that at the Palace Hotel grill

in San Francisco the manager would order three canvas-back ducks, and enriching

the third with the sanguinary juices of two of them as extracted in the

grilling, feast solely on the breast meat of that costly third bird, with a

five-dollar bottle of champagne as accompanying beverage. The high priced

machinery and tractors were "after the burst up" sold for old junk,

and years later a nice profit was made by speculators, who bought up the ore on

the neglected dump-pile when copper jumped up to twenty-six cents a pound with

the demands on account of the war in Europe. The Copper King property has been

taken over by a Texas corporation, organized in 1917, which having transferred

its interest to California incorporators, the latter will operate it under a

lease and royalty arrangement with option to buy after a given time for a

stipulated price. It resumed operations in January, 1918, after long years of

inactivity. 




As late as 1865 gold dust was the

medium of circulation in Fresno, rather than coin, as the Civil War had created

a scarcity in circulated metallic coin and paper money being a curiosity and

practically unknown in California even for many years thereafter. 




Property values were estimated in

ounces of pure gold rather than in dollars and cents. Gold dust was acceptable

for taxes by special authority of the supervisors, and in business according to

valuations as per this publication on March 8, 1865, in the Millerton Times: 




 




NOTICE 




 




On and after the 1st of March,

1865, we, the undersigned, pledge ourselves to receive and pay out GOLD DUST at

the following rates only: 




San Joaquin River or Bar dust,

where it is not mixed with other dust, at $15.50 per ounce. 




Fine Gold Gulch, Cottonwood,

Long Gulch, and all taken out in small gulches between the San Joaquin and

Fresno Rivers (except Coarse Gold Gulch) at $14 per ounce. 




Coarse Gold Gulch dust at

$16.50. 




Big Dry Creek at $16.50. 




Temperance Flat dust, and dust

taken out at the head of Little Dry Creek, at $14. 




Sycamore Creek dust, free from

quicksilver and not mixed with other dust, at $17.50. 




Fresno River dust, taken out

below McKeown's store at $15.50. 




The above rates are as near as

we can come at the value of the various kinds of dust in gold coin, and after

this date, we do not intend to receive or pay out anything that is not equal in

value to United States gold or silver coin. 




(Signed): Geo. Grierson &

Co.. J. R. Jones, Lewis Leach, James Urquhart, Ira McCray, Wm. Faymonville, Wm.

Fielding, S. W. Henry, Robert Abbott, C. F. Walker, T. A. Long, Jno. White,

Thos. Simpson, W. Krug, Geo. S. Palmer, Clark Hoxie, S. T. Garrison, T. C.

Stallo, W. S. Wyatt, S. Gaster, J. Linnebacker, Geo. McClelland, J. R. Barkley,

Henry Henricie, Chas. A. Hart, Tong Sing, Hop Wo, Daniel Brannan, H. W. Clark,

D. H. Miller, C. P. Converse, L. M. Mathews, C. G. Sayle, Ira Stroud. 




 




There were 138 quartz mills in

operation in the state in 1856 — eighty-six propelled by water, forty-eight by

steam and four by horse power, moving 1,521 stamps. The cost of the machinery

was $1,763,000. 






OEBPS/BookwireInBookPromotion/9783849643874.jpg
MARK TWAIN
FULLY ILLUSTRATED EDITION

ROUGHING IT





OEBPS/BookwireInBookPromotion/9783849646424.jpg
THE MINISTRY
OF HEALING

ELLEN GOULD WHITE





OEBPS/Images/cover.jpeg
HISTORY OF
FRESNO COUNTY

VOLUME 1

PAUL E. VANDOR





OEBPS/BookwireInBookPromotion/9783849659011.jpg
HISTORY OF
FRESNO COUNTY

VOLUME 4

PAUL E. VANDOR





OEBPS/BookwireInBookPromotion/9783849650643.jpg
FRANK SOULE

R

ANNALS OF
SAN FRANCISCO





OEBPS/BookwireInBookPromotion/9783849644345.jpg
IGNATIUS DONNELLY

ATLANTIS

THE ANTEDILUVIAN
WORLD





